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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of

investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will

be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents
of this annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for

any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (“Directors”) of WLS Holdings Limited (“Company” or “WLS”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, contirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained
in this annual report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive; and (2) there are no other

matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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“CIRCLE AND SQUARE” CONCEPT

In this intensely competitive world, the winners are those who take the
initiative to build a solid foundation and dedicate efforts on self improvement

and enhance business efficiencies.

WLS Holdings Limited, with excellent business acumen, takes a proactive
stance on incorporating the “Circle and Square” concept into its corporate
mission. The underlying meaning of having a “Circle” encompassing a
square symbolises the importance of offering smooth services and flexibility
to external parties, and “Square” encompassed by a circle symbolises the
requirement of cautiousness and striving after perfection. That is why
WLS shall adhere unwaveringly to its principle of perpetual emphasis and

continuous improvement on “Safety, Quality and Efficiency”.

WLS practises and preaches the theory of “Circle and Square” by integrating
flexibility into every step of its operations as well as abiding by every legal

regulation and restriction.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

#HZ U H =1 H ik Bf B 4 B Financial Year ended 30 April

- St —E B4 TR B
2023 2022 2021 2020
Tt T T T¥oo
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000
e Turnover 145,960 191,027 150,206 139,516
o 56 i Js 4R Loss before taxation (105,807)* (7,519) (12,929) (113,991)
E/NEIESEE N Loss for the year
A S AT B s 15 attributable to the owners
of the Company (112,413)* (10,818) (13,750) (103,134)
15 48 () Loss per share (HK cent)
— FEAR R — basic and diluted (0.782)* (0.075) (0.096) (0.718)
& From continuing operations
* RE R

EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

OVERVIEW

During the year ended 30 April 2023 (“Year”), the Group recorded a decrease
in the Group’s total revenue for the Year from continuing operations of
approximately HK$146.0 million, representing a decrease of approximately
22.8% as compared with the year ended 30 April 2022 (“Last Year”). Net
loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the Year from continuing
operations was approximately HK$112.4 million, representing a significant

increase of approximately HK$101.8 million as compared with Last Year.

The operations and reportable segments for the Year were presented as (i)
scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and
buildings work, (ii) money lending business and (iii) securities investment

business.

The detailed business and financial review of each business segment is stated

below.
BUSINESS REVIEW

Scaffolding, Fitting out and Other Auxiliary Services for
Construction and Buildings Work

The scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction
and buildings work was the largest business segment for the Year. This
segment includes scaffolding services, fitting out services and other auxiliary
services for construction and buildings work. For the Year, revenue from
this segment was approximately HK$103.4 million, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$36.9 million as compared with Last Year (Last
Year: approximately HK$140.3 million), since the Group had bid the new
construction contracts with higher contract price in FY2023. The Group had
awarded a total of 2 new construction contracts during the Year (Last Year: 13

new construction contracts).
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Scaffolding Services

In recent years, a number of large-scale infrastructure projects have been
carried out by the Government of HKSAR to boost the construction industry
and well-being of the society. For this purpose, a multi-pronged strategy has
been adopted by the government to maintain a steady and sustainable land

supply with the aim to meet the continuing housing needs in Hong Kong.

On the other hand, in the past few years, the entire scaffolding industry
encountered the major difficulty of shortage in supply of skilled workers and
experienced personnel. Such shortage of workers resulted in the rising labour
costs and diminishing profit margins throughout the industry, which further
intensified competition within the scaffolding sector. However, it is worth
mentioning that the Group’s patented scaffolding system, which is known
as “Pik-Lik”, has played a crucial role in saving manpower and enhancing

efficiency in the industry.

Leveraging the widespread recognition of the impeccable quality of services
and the strong relationships nurtured with clientele, the Group receives
positive feedback and prominent business support and takes pride in being one
of the leading scaffolding service providers in Hong Kong. During the Year,
the Group provided scaffolding services to 40 ongoing projects, and 25 of

which were completed on schedule and 2 new contracts were awarded.

ZZ-=FF5 Annual Report 2023
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Project portfolio of scaffolding services (as of 30 April 2023)

Comprehensive Hotel Development at Lai Ying Street, Cheung Sha Wan
Comprehensive Redevelopment at 138 Carpenter Road, Kowloon
Comprehensive Development of Jockey Club One Health Tower for City
University of Hong Kong

Comprehensive Development of LRT Tin Wing Stop Tin Shui Wai
Property Development at Tung Chau Street and 1-5 Kweilin Street
Public Housing Development at Tsing Hung Road, Tsing Yi
Redevelopment of Khalsa Diwan Hong Kong (Sikh Temple)

Residential Development at 33 To Shek Street, Shatin

Redevelopment of Island School at No. 20 Borrett Road, Mid-Levels
Industrial Development at Lot 313 and TWIL 49 Tsuen Wan, N.T.
Residential Development of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Ko
Shan Road

Residential Development of Siu Hong Phase 2 Building

New High Tier Data Centre at T.K.O.T.L 131

Residential Commercial Complex Building Development on T.K.O.T.L
No.17 at Tseung Kwan O

Residential Development at Lohas Park (Phrase 10)

Residential Development at No 3 Off Anderson Road, Kwun Tong
Residential Redevelopment at No 233-235 Prince Edward Road West
Residential Development at Reclamation Street/Shan Tung Street, Mong
Kok

Residential Development at Wong Ma Kok

Residential Development at Yau Tong Inland Lot No. 44

Residential Development of Church Facilities, Residential Care Home
& Senior Hostel at 17A & B Ventris Road

Superstructure & Associated Works for the expansion of United
Christian Hospital (Phrase II)

Repairment and Maintenance work at World Trade Center

Repair, Maintenance, Alteration and Addition work at Yuen Long Yoho
Mall I & 1T
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Fitting out Services

For the fitting out services, the Group mainly provided fitting out services
to commercial institutions and luxury residence end-users during the Year.
The competition of fitting out services is keen. The Group will continue to

proactively acquire new contracts.
Other Auxiliary Services for Construction and Buildings Work

For other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work, the Group
mainly provided gondolas, parapet railings and access equipment installation
and maintenance services. The Group has been actively cultivating its
gondolas rental business over the past several years and has gained positive
‘worth-of-mouth’ in the market. This has enabled the Group to secure a stable

number of new contracts despite the competitive local market.
Money Lending Business

The Group’s money lending business is operated by an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (“Gold Medal”)
which is a licensed money lender in Hong Kong under the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group earns interest
income through providing loans to customers, including individuals, private
and listed companies. Customers are usually from referrals from the business
network and connections of the management. The day-to-day operation of the
money lending business is mainly handled by the directors of Gold Medal,
while all loan applications are subject to final review and approval by the
Board.

Gold Medal does not place advertisement to procure new customers from
the general public. Instead, Gold Medal acquires its new customers through
referrals by the business acquaintances of the management or existing and/or
previous customers. When a potential customer is referred to the Group, each
loan application will be considered and approved by the Board on a case-by-
case basis.

The Group finances the money lending business principally by the cash inflow
mainly from the repayment of the existing loan portfolio and the proceeds

from the issuance of bonds by Gold Medal and the Company.

As at 30 April 2023, Gold Medal had 89 customers.

ZZ-=FF5 Annual Report 2023
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EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited

Approval of loan application

All loans and loan agreements under the Group’s money lending business
have been granted and approved in accordance with the Guidelines and the
Procedure Manual of Gold Medal. The Guidelines provide the policies to
be observed by Gold Medal for its money lending business, and set out the
objective for the money lending business is to earn interest income to generate
profits for Gold Medal whilst avoiding incurrence of bad debts. At present, the
Guidelines provide that the usual tenure of the loan is between 3 months to 5
years, and for loan less than HK$5,000,000, the usual interest rate is between
7%-15%, for loan in the amount between HK$5,000,000 to HK$20,000,000,
the usual interest rate is between 7%-13% and for loan in the amount between
HK$20,000,000 to HK$40,000,000, the usual interest rate is 7%-10%.

Each loan application is considered on a case-by-case basis. In general, if
the intending borrower will not provide any collateral for the borrowing, the
Group will assess the overall creditworthiness of the intending borrower. To
balance the risk and return, a higher interest rate (when compared with usual
secured bank borrowing) will be charged by the Group and such interest rate

may be higher than any of the interest rates as specified in the Guidelines.

When evaluating the overall creditworthiness of the intending borrower, Gold

Medal has adopted the following practices:

(i)  With regard to private and listed companies, Gold Medal does not
approve loan application of intending borrower which conducts business
in industries engaging in sensitive or high risk activities for money
laundering and terrorist financing, such as the entertainment and the

gambling industries.

(ii)  With regard to individual customers, in accordance with the Licensing
Condition 15 of the licensing conditions as imposed by the Licensing
Court which was effective from 16 March 2021, in respect of unsecured
personal loans only, Gold Medal is required to carry out a reasonable
assessment of the intending borrower’s ability to make repayments in an
affordable manner. Therefore, Gold Medal has obtained income proof
and asset proof from the intending borrower and also took into account
payments needed to meet existing debts (if any) and essential living

expenses of the intending borrower when reviewing the loan application.
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Existing loans

The amount of overdue loans receivable as at 30 April 2023 was approximately
HK$38.7 million. In relation to the overdue loans, Gold Medal has sent loan
repayment request letter to the relevant borrowers and/or has been conducting

negotiation with the relevant borrowers and may consider taking legal action.

The Company has complied with the requirements set out in Chapter 19 and/
or Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules when Gold Medal granted the loan to

each of the borrowers, whose loan was still outstanding as at 30 April 2023.

The Company does not have any agreement, arrangement, understanding, or
undertaking (whether formal or informal and whether express or implied)
with a connected person (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) with respect
to the grant of any loan by Gold Medal to the borrower whose loan was still
outstanding as at 30 April 2023.

Under the ongoing economic impacts of COVID-19, in order to lower default
ratio of the loan borrowing, Gold Medal has reviewed and flexibly adjusted
the business strategies, which is to enhance the requirements of the loan
granted to the borrowers. For example, the borrowers have to provide the asset
proof or income proof to prove they have the ability to repay the loan. As the
requirements of the loan granted to the borrowers are higher and the risk for
the loan borrowings are lower, the related interest rate will become lower.
Thus, the business segment recorded a decrease of revenue during the Year
and recorded a turnover of approximately HK$42.5 million for the Year (Last
Year: approximately HK$48.8 million). For the loan portfolio as at 30 April
2023, the principal amount of the loans ranged from approximately HK$0.1
million to HK$25.0 million with interest rates ranging from 7.0% to 40.6%
per annum. As at 30 April 2023, approximately 46% of the Group’s net loan
and interest receivables were unsecured. The remaining loan were secured by
listed companies shares or guaranteed by guarantors. As at 30 April 2023, the
net amount of loan and interest receivables due from the largest borrower was
approximately HK$20.3 million, being approximately 4.6% to the net loan
and interest receivables of the Group. The net amount of loan and interest
receivables due from the five largest borrowers (in aggregation with loans
granted to persons connected with each other) was less than 21% of the net
loan and interest receivables of the Group. The five largest borrowers were
individuals, all of which were third parties independent of the Company and
its connected persons (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules). Further details
of the loan and interest receivables are set out in note 21 to the consolidated

financial statements in this annual report.
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EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited

All loans and loan agreements under the Group’s money lending business have
been granted and approved in accordance with the Money Lending Guidelines
(“Guidelines”) and the Money Lending Procedure Manual (“Procedure
Manual”) of Gold Medal. The Guidelines provide the policies to be observed
by Gold Medal for its money lending business, and set out the objective for
the money lending business is to earn interest income to generate profits for
Gold Medal whilst avoiding incurrence of bad debts. The Guidelines also
provide references or specific requirements for setting of interest rates of the
loan, the tenure of the loan and the credit assessment and approval process
of each loan. Each loan application will be considered and approved by the
Board on a case by case basis. The Board will usually take into account of the
applicant’s creditability, reputation, financial status, the value of the security
(if any), the applicant’s past repayment record with Gold Medal, and the
proposed tenure, principal amount and interest rate of the loan to consider
whether a loan application will be approved and whether a security/guarantee

is needed or adequate for a loan.

The Procedure Manual provides the procedures to be observed by Gold Medal
for granting and thereafter monitoring the repayment of the loans. In brief, the
intending borrower first fills in an application form or the intending borrower
communicates in person with the officer of Gold Medal. The officer will then
collect documents from the intending borrower for client identification and
verification, and has to confirm/enquire if the borrower is a connected person
of the Group (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules). The application form
will then be reviewed and/or approved by any one director of Gold Medal.
The senior management will draft the loan documents in accordance with
the terms specified in the approved application form. The responsible officer
of the loan application will prepare the Memorandum for Credit Analysis
(“Memorandum”) which contains the proposed terms of the loan application,
the background information of the borrower and the analysis of the credit
risks and security. The draft loan documents together with the Memorandum
will be passed to the Board for final approval. Based on the information in the
Memorandum, the Board makes a conclusion on the credit risk assessment of
the customer. Once the loan is approved and granted, the responsible officer
has to report the status of the loan repayment monthly and immediately report
to the Directors if any default repayment is noted. Generally, if the debt is
overdue, Gold Medal will issue reminder letter to the customer and if the debt

is overdue for 6 months, Gold Medal will consider to take legal action.
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Securities Investment Business

In order to capture possible returns from the financial market, the Group has
formed the investment committee in year 2015/2016 and continued investing
in Hong Kong-listed securities during the Year. Due diligence was conducted
on every contemplated investment and each investment was taken into serious
consideration to ensure quality risk control and maximise shareholders’

benefits.

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$23.1 million (Last
Year: net loss of approximately HK$4.2 million) for its investment portfolio
for the Year, which was mainly due to the volatility of the stock market in
Hong Kong. The investment committee will continue to monitor the Group’s

investment portfolio closely in order to maximum shareholders’ returns.
Assets Management Business

The Group commenced its assets management business ever since Mass
Fidelity Asset Management Limited (“Mass Fidelity”), its indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary, which was a licensed insurance broker and registered
MPF Corporate Intermediary in Hong Kong, the Group had commenced the

business of assets management in March 2018.

For the Year, the Group had disposed the segment of assets management
business in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. For details,
please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis
— Disposal of subsidiaries”, note 13 and 28 to the consolidated financial

statements in this report.
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EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited

IMPACT CAUSED BY THE OUTBREAK OF
COVID-19

Our business operations and financial conditions are affected by the outbreak
of COVID-19 during the Year. Below are the relevant analyses for our two
largest business segments — scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services

for construction and buildings work and money lending:

Scaffolding, Fitting Out and Other Auxiliary Services for
Construction and Buildings Work:

During the Year, since the operation of the Government of HKSAR has been
limited by various measures for prevention of the spread of COVID-19, the
number of new construction projects and contracts approved by the relevant
government department has decreased. The delivery process of construction
materials imported from mainland China was also delayed by the outbreak
of COVID-19 and enhanced border control for prevention of disease. In
addition, less workers were available in the market due to travel restrictions,
which further slowed down the progress of existing construction projects.
Competition within the construction industry had become even more intense

during the Year as there were less new projects in the market.

The Group had awarded a total of 2 new construction contracts during the Year
(Last Year: 13 new construction contracts). Due to the decrease in the number
of new construction contracts were awarded during the Year, the revenue from
this segment decreased by approximately HK$36.9 million as compared with
Last Year.
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Money Lending:

Under the ongoing economic impacts of COVID-19, in order to lower default
ratio of the loan borrowing, Gold Medal has reviewed and flexibly adjusted
the business strategies, which is to enhance the requirements of the loan
granted to the borrowers. For example, the borrowers have to provide the
asset proof or income proof to prove they have the ability to repay the loan.
As the requirements of the loan granted to the borrowers are higher and the
risk for the loan borrowings are lower, the related interest rate will become
lower. Hence, our money lending business recorded a decrease in revenue
during the Year. Due to difficulties in repayment by customers caused by the
economic impacts of COVID-19, there was a recognition of net impairment
losses arising from expected credit losses and write-off on loan and interest
receivables in the amount of approximately HK$84.6 million (Last Year:
approximately HK$41.8 million) and approximately HK$3.0 million (Last
Year: approximately HK$11.1 million) respectively for the Year. Despite such
difficulties, the Group will continue putting efforts in the collection procedure
of loan receivables. For details of our money lending business, please refer to
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Business Review

— Money Lending Business” in this annual report.
BUSINESS OUTLOOK

As we entered calendar year 2022/2023, the together with the challenges
posed by high interest rate during the Year mean a double blow to the Hong
Kong economy and further contribute to a downward trend in the Hong Kong

property market.

The impacts of COVID-19 have caused pressure worldwide and dampened
the development of various industries, with no exception for the scaffolding
industry. In the past decade, the scaffolding industry has become increasingly
competitive. Furthermore, the costs have become higher together with rising
labour costs and the productivity has suffered decline as well. In the face of
a phenomenon of ageing workers, young generation is unwilling to join the
industry due to hard labour work and higher requirement of technological
qualifications, which has affected recruitment of talents in the industry, and
with heavier government regulations, without favourable factors such as
labour imports, the carrying capacity of the industry may be challenged. These

reflect a lack of confidence in the prospect of the scaffolding industry.

ZZ-=FF5 Annual Report 2023

17



18

o BRI i M a3

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

F i FETT S B RS OK - B FF 2 R
PR L PR P MR AR T A - D S R R P
[ e B = A I [ e W T A
7B B0 T A ORI B A - R
558 e BLA 0 BH 52 © R 3E S 0 R
23> JEHAE T AMBLRY = 8 0 BT R
RPN B8 0 S 2 A R B R LUIR A

Te S0 oy E o

2 AR A G RN R B R R g T U
fili 755 M & 2 B AL - 3 e A% B AR 13 A
1Y A i 45 Y LB -

K AR R R AR BRI NI SS ) A3
B AR A LA T RRAE WA < il P R
A A B 9 T R o AR S R A A A A A M i
R ORE JF o A 4R T A fi 45 36 5 LA 95
GBS FA - B RS A L O 1635 i
RN B At A B 2k 1 ~ 8 RO 1R 3
G BA B 2% w) RE M AN ey ) 3 0 H A T4 o A
5 [ M A AR B ) T AR Y T - LA R R
Bt Ry A HLE o

JRH R =R AR B B A AR
B B4 AN B 0 M R T A IR - A A I OE TE AR RS
LB R A e SRR SR WS 5 I T A M B
Y A5 R AT A R LR T AT B0 R AT
G 175 I 3T OR 2RI 2% B S il E R TR R - Bt Ah
A G PN RO T IR SR A A R B
AT WAAT 2 BT A BT Y R R S
2 T FAM A 35 T+ 7 o (A R AR 4 M A A
T R M) R R LR R T I S A R
i B ST o 7% 42 T IY R A R < A 4 A EEORE
LT N B T SR Y S R W - LA
53 2] 53 0 14 T 35 B B % A IS R A S 2 B
Bl K o

R A% - FAM B KR BR R D) A 1% R
B AR T SET 2 el - 55 0 i E) 2
B 119 B 8 R R o AR AR T 1N S SR WS AT A UM
TE W) 36 W~ B o 45 I Tl B R R U
R T SR W % R R ) 1) B A A U Bt

EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited

On the other hand, in response to demand from market development, many
contractors have adopted the use of iron scaffolds instead of bamboo scaffolds
nowadays. The general higher durability of iron scaffolds and the possibility
of calculating load bearing capacity have shortened the time for training of
workers. Hence, bamboo scaffolds may be eliminated in Hong Kong in the
future. According to recent trend, modern iron scaffolds have been adopted
by the industry, especially for high-end shopping malls which are aware of
exterior appearance. Therefore, the future direction of the scaffolding business

will be led by the adoption of mixed scaffolds and iron scaffolds.

The Group has been actively seeking profitable projects over the past several
years in order to diversify its business portfolio and eventually mitigate risks

from the competitive construction market.

After a few years of serious efforts to develop its money lending operations,
the money lending business has generated stable income for the Year. Despite
difficulties in repayment by customers during the Year, the Group will continue
putting efforts in the collection procedure of loans receivable. The Group’s
Guidelines and Procedure Manual for the money lending business were issued
with an aim to comply with the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and the licensing conditions and
guidelines and other publications as issued by the Companies Registry from
time to time. The Group will continue to update the Guidelines and Procedure

Manual to ensure stricter compliance with the aforementioned.

Looking ahead to 2023/2024, in view of present economic uncertainty and
difficulties, the Group is reviewing its existing assets structure and business
strategies and may make adjustment to our existing assets structure, with the
aim to consolidate our resources, so as to be flexibly prepared for uncertainties
in the future. Meanwhile, in order to enhance our competitiveness, the Group
will look for opportunities to revitalise the scaffolding business to keep
up with the recent development and trend in the industry, in particular the
declining use of bamboo scaffolds. At the same time, the Group will continue
focusing on those business segments that generate higher profit margins and
show ample growth potential such as money lending operations. The Group
will strictly adhere to its cost control policy, and swiftly adjust business
strategies of its scaffolding business in response to ever-changing market

dynamics in order to generate better financial returns for shareholders.

Finally, we will actively explore all suitable investment opportunities to
diversify the Group’s business horizons and will work hard to strengthen
overall business development. The Group’s business strategy is in line with
the general direction of the government’s overall strategic development plans
for property construction, infrastructure investment and financial market

development.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$146.0
million (Last Year: approximately HK$189.0 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 22.8% as compared with Last Year. The Company recorded a
net loss attributable to its owners from continuing operation of approximately
HK$112.4 million for the Year (Last Year: approximately HK$10.6 million).
The increase in net loss was mainly due to the increase in net impairment loss
recognised arising from expected credit losses on loan and interest receivable
of approximately HK$42.8 million, the decrease in gain on disposal of
subsidiaries of approximately HK$34.3 million and the decrease in the gross

profit of approximately HK$23.4 million.

The decrease in turnover was mainly due to the revenue decreased in generated
from the segments of scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for

construction and buildings work during the Year.

For the Year, gross profit of the Group slightly decreased by approximately
32.7% to approximately HK$47.8 million as compared with Last Year (Last
Year: approximately HK$71.1 million) and gross profit margin decreased to
approximately 32.8% (Last Year: approximately 37.7%). Gross profit margin
of the Group decreased which was mainly due to the significant increase
in the cost of sales as the increase of material and manpower costs under

construction operations during the Year.

During the Year, the operating and administrative expenses decreased from
approximately HK$48.4 million in the Last Year to approximately HK$27.4
million due to the decrease in staff costs, decrease in depreciation of right-
of-use assets due to termination of leases during the year and decrease in
marketing and advertising expenses during the Year. Finance costs decreased
by approximately HK$0.9 million compared with Last Year (Last Year:
approximately HK$8.0 million) which was mainly due to the significant
decrease in the bank borrowings during the Year. The Group continued
to adopt its policy of vigilant cost control for the ensuing periods. Funds
generated from financing activities strengthened the working capital of the
Group in anticipation of further investment and diversification opportunities in
the future.
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EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

During the Year, the Group financed its operations by banking facilities,
finance leases provided by banks, loan from a financial institution and

proceeds from issue of coupon bonds.

As at 30 April 2023, the Group’s equity attributable to the owners of the
Company, current assets, net current assets and total assets were approximately
HK$396.1 million (30 April 2022: approximately HK$509.6 million),
approximately HK$534.5 million (30 April 2022: approximately HK$437.2
million), approximately HK$359.6 million (30 April 2022: approximately
HK$242.3 million) and approximately HK$575.6 million (30 April 2022:
approximately HK$703.4 million) respectively.

As at 30 April 2023, the Group has no bank borrowing (30 April 2022:
approximately HK$8.6 million) and bank overdrafts (30 April 2022:
approximately: HK$10.9 million). As at 30 April 2023, the Group’s other
loan and other borrowings was HK$123.9 million (30 April 2022: HK$119.5
million). The lease liabilities was approximately HK$1.6 million (30 April
2022: HK$4.2 million). As at 30 April 2023, other loan and other borrowings
included (i) 2-year 6.5% coupon bond of HK$20 million issued by the
Company, on 3 June 2021; (ii) 2-year 11% coupon bond of HK$5 million
issued by the Company, on 18 August 2021; (iii) 2-year 6.5% coupon bond of
HKS$5 million issued by the Company, on 18 August 2021; (iv) 2-year 6.5%
coupon bond of HK$3 million issued by the Company, on 23 March 2022;
(v) 5-year 6.5% coupon bond of HK$5.8 million issued by the Company,
on 27 April 2022; (vi) 5-year 8% coupon bond of HK$42 million issued by
Gold Medal, on 31 October 2020 and renewed on 1 February 2022 with 6.5%
coupon rate; (vii) 3-year 8.5% coupon unlisted straight bond of HK$20 million
issued by Gold Medal, on 28 October 2019 and renewed on 1 February 2022
with 6.5% coupon rate and the bonds is extended to 27 October 2024 with no
change in terms; and (viii) the surety bond of HK$18 million was issued by

Gold Medal on 16 September 2020 was with no interest bearing.
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As at 30 April 2023, the Group’s bank balances and cash in general accounts
amounted to approximately HK$18.5 million (30 April 2022: approximately
HK$36.2 million). As at 30 April 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio (total debts
divided by equity attributable to the owners of the Company then multiplied
by 100%) was approximately 31.5% (30 April 2022: approximately 27.6%).
For calculating the gearing ratios, total debts of the Group included bank
borrowings and bank overdrafts, other loan and other borrowings and lease

liabilities.

As at 30 April 2023, most of the Group’s bank balances and cash, bank
borrowings, bank overdrafts and other borrowings were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. During the year, there were no outstanding bank borrowings and
bank overdrafts. The bore interest at variable market rates in 2022 was ranging
from 1.11% to 2.95% per annum and were repayable on demand or within one
year. The lease liabilities had an average lease term ranging from one to three
years (30 April 2022: one to three years) and all such leases had interest rates

fixed at the contract date and fixed repayment bases.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF LOAN AND
INTEREST RECEIVABLES AS AT 30 APRIL 2023

As detailed in notes 4, 21 and 42 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Directors assessed the provision for impairment of loan and interest
receivables based on the estimation of expected credit loss (“ECL”) under
a “three-stage” model. In developing the loss allowance of loan and interest
receivables, the Directors use judgement in making the assumptions about the
probability of default and loss given default with reference to the historical
delinquency ratio of loans portfolio, repayment record, collateral values and
current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors. The
impairment assessment was also supported by the assessment made by the

external professional valuer.
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As at 30 April 2023, the Group’s net loan and interest receivables amounted
to approximately HK$444.4 million (2022: approximately HK$486.3 million).
Allowance for credit losses of loan and interest receivables under the ECL
model amounted to approximately HK$240.1 million (2022: approximately
HK$155.5 million) and net impairment loss arising from ECL amounted to
approximately HK$84.6 million (2022: approximately HK$41.8 million). The
increase in the loss allowance for loan and interest receivables was principally
due to the loan and interest receivables from a debtor with gross carrying
amount of approximately HK$20,575,000 has been transferred from 12m ECL
to not credit-impaired as at 30 April 2023.

Estimation of recoverability of loan and interest receivables

The Group assesses provision for impairment of loan and interest receivables
based on an estimate of the recoverability of these receivables. Provisions
are applied to loan and interest receivables where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of impairment of loan and interest receivables under HKFRS 9
requires the use of estimates and judgement. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of
receivables and provision for impairment losses in the period in which such
estimate has been changed. The Group uses judgement in making assumptions
and selecting the inputs to its ECL calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the

end of each reporting period.
Credit risk and impairment assessment
The impairment losses recognised for the year ended 30 April 2023 is the sum

of the impairment loss from impairment assessment on principal and interest

calculated respectively as follows:

AR 4 Z AR BT A Impairment assessment on principal
Outstanding amount of X probability of default X loss given default X forward looking factor
principal as at 30 April 2023
MHEECZHEMAZ4THE x 7 H X BRI E X OGS 1 R 3%

ENCE P ot

EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited
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R 2 kA R A Impairment assessment on interest:
Outstanding amount of X probability of default X loss given default X forward looking factor
interest as at 30 April 2023
PR EAFMA=1TH x B X EHHI R X i B P IR R
R I AT ZFE
(1) FHEHARZELM R RES M E N (1) The probability of default of each loan is determined based on the
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internal scoring system from the management, to assess credit risk
of borrowers. To adopt a scoring system in the valuation of loan and
interest receivables, 5 areas of borrowers’ characteristics are used to
assess the creditworthiness, namely overdue amount, length of interest
and/or principal overdue, length of principal borrowed, change in

interest rate and number of extensions.

(2)  The loss given default of each loan represents the percentage of the loan
expected to be defaulted in the future, taking into account of the market

value of any security/guarantee provided for the relevant loan.

(3) The forward looking factor for borrowers from Hong Kong and the
Mainland China is adjusted by the parameters on macro-economic
factors adopted in the valuation with reference to the calculation by an

independent valuer for the impairment assessment under ECL model of
loans receivable for the year ended 30 April 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL
The Company did not issue any shares or debentures during the Year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year
(Last Year: nil).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
Operating segments

The Group is organised into four operating segments — (i) scaffolding, fitting
out and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work; (ii)

money lending business and (iii) securities investment business.
Geographical segments

Customers of all four segments of the Group are situated in Hong Kong.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 8 August 2022, Instant Victory Global Limited (“Instant Victory”), a
directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company has entered into a sales and
purchase agreement (“S&P Agreement”) with Draco International Investment
(Holdings) Limited (“Draco”), Mass Fidelity Consulting Limited (“Mass
Fidelity Consulting”) and Suncorp Investment Holdings Limited (“Suncorp™)
(collectively referred to as the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which Instant Victory
conditionally agreed to sell and assign the benefit of, 1,000 ordinary shares
in the issued and fully paid-up share capital of Blue Pool Ventures Limited
(“Blue Pool”), a directly wholly owned subsidiary of Instant Victory, (the
“Sale Shares”), and Draco, Mass Fidelity Consulting and Suncorp agreed to
purchase and take the assignment of, the Sale Shares from Instant Victory,
which representing 37.5%, 37.5% and 25.0% of the entire issued share capital
of Blue Pool at the consideration of approximately HK$199,000, HK$199,000,
and HK$132,000 respectively.

Through this disposal, 100% indirectly held subsidiary of the Company,
Blue Pool, and its 100% indirectly held subsidiary, Mass Fidelity, a licensed
insurance broker and registered MPF Corporate Intermediary in Hong
Kong (collectively referred to as the “Disposal Group”) were also disposed
accordingly, at a cash consideration of HK$530,000 in total. The Disposal
Group carried out the business of assets management in Hong Kong. The
disposal was completed on 8 August 2022, on which date control of the
Disposal Group was passed to the Purchaser and the Group will cease its
business in the segment of assets management. The operating results of the
segment of assets management was reclassified as discontinued operation
during the Year which are set out in note 13 and 28 to the consolidated

financial statements in this report.
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As the director of Blue Pool was Mr. Chan Wai Lung and Mr. Chan Wai Lung
was the director and the ultimately beneficial owner of Draco and the director
of Mass Fidelity was Mr. Chan Shui Cheong and Mr. Chan Shui Cheong was
the director and held 33.3% of the entire issued share capital of Mass Fidelity
Consulting. They are therefore the connected persons at the subsidiary level
of the Group under the GEM Listing Rules. Hence, the Disposal constitutes
a connected transaction with connected persons at the subsidiary level of the
Group under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As none of the applicable
percentage ratios (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) calculated under
Rule 19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the S&P Agreement has
exceeded 1%, the disposal of the Disposal Group under the S&P Agreement
does not constitute a notifiable transaction under Rule 20.74(b) of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Details of the disposal of subsidiaries are set out in note 28 to the

Consolidated Financial Statement.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have disposal of subsidiaries

during the Year.
INVESTMENTS

As at 30 April 2023, the equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$2.2 million, representing approximately 0.4% of the Group’s audited total
assets as at 30 April 2023 and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”) of the Group amounted to approximately HK$45.3 million
representing approximately 7.9% of the Group’s total assets as at 30 April
2023.

These investments mainly include equity securities of 34 companies listed
in Hong Kong. None of these investments in the portfolio at FVTOCI and
FVTPL has a value of 5% or more of the Group’s audited total assets as at
30 April 2023.

The Directors expect that the upward trend of the stock market in Hong Kong
would be continued in 2023 and 2024 which may motivate the performance
of the Group’s securities investments. Looking forward, the Board believes
that the performance of the securities investments of the Group will also be
dependent on the financial and operating performance of investee companies
and market sentiment which are affected by factors such as interest rate
movements, high inflation, and performance of the macro economy. In order
to mitigate the associated risk, the Group will continuously remain cautious
in the allocation of resources and the identification and capture of appropriate
securities investment opportunities. It will review its investment strategy
regularly and take appropriate actions whenever necessary in response to

changes in the market.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 April 2023, the Group has pledged the following assets as security

for the general banking facilities granted to the Group:

2023 2022

F#oc T

HK$’000 HK$’000

JRE i B K Trade receivables - 3,021
BHEE Contract assets - 41
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TREASURY POLICY

The Group consistently employs a prudent treasury policy during its
development and generally finances its operations and business development
with internally generated resources and equity and/or debt financing activities.
The Group also adopts flexible and prudent fiscal policies to effectively
manage the Group’s assets and liabilities and strengthen the Group’s financial

position.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND INTEREST RATE
EXPOSURE

Most of the assets and liabilities of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. The Group did not use any financial instrument for hedging purpose
during the Year, and did not have any outstanding hedging instrument as at
30 April 2023. When appropriate, for example at times when interest rate
or exchange rate are uncertain or volatile, the Group will consider the use
of hedging instruments including interest rate swap and foreign currency
forward contract to manage the Group’s exposures to interest rate and foreign

exchange rate fluctuations.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors are aware that the Group is exposed to various risks, including

risks which are specific to the Group or the industries in which the Group

operates. The Directors have established a policy to ensure that significant

risks which may adversely affect the Group are identified, reported,

monitored, and managed on a continuous basis. The Group has identified the

following risks that are considered to be significant to the Group and which

may adversely and/or materially affect the Group’s businesses, financial

conditions, results of operations and growth prospects as at the date of this

annual report:

(a)

(b)

Labour shortage

The Group’s scaffolding business and fitting out services business are
labour-intensive. In the event that there is a significant increase in the
costs and demand of labour and the Group has to retain its labour by
increasing their wages, the Group’s staff costs and/or subcontracting
costs will increase thereby lower the profitability. Further, if the Group
or the Group’s subcontractors fail to retain the Group’s existing labour
and/or recruit sufficient labour on a timely manner to cope with the need
of the Group’s existing or future projects, the Group may not be able
to complete the projects on schedule and within budget. The Group’s

operations and profitability may be adversely affected.

In order to alleviate such risk, the Group is committed to providing our
employees with a safe, pleasant and healthy working environment and

competitive remuneration package with a view to retaining our labour.

Failure to bid new contract

The Group’s scaffolding business relies on successful tenders of
contracts for scaffolding works and/or associated works. Given the non-
recurring nature of these contract awards and that the Group does not
have long-term commitment with its customers, the number of contracts
awarded to the Group may vary from year to year. Upon completion
of the contracts on hand, the Group’s financial performance may be
adversely affected if the Group is unable to secure new tenders or obtain
new contract awards with comparable contract sums or at all. In order
to alleviate such risk, the Group believes that it can leverage on the
existing relationship with the major customers to further develop new

business opportunities in the future.
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()

(d)

(e)

Competition

The industries in which the Group operates are highly competitive,
for example, the scaffolding industry and the money-lending industry.
Areas of competition include contract price, production costs, marketing
campaign, customer services and interest rates for money lending. If
the Group does not respond timely to cope with the market conditions,
it may adversely affect the consumer demand for the Group’s services
and products, the reputation of the Group and the Group’s financial

performance.
Financial

The Group is exposed to financial risks, including credit, interest rate,
currency, liquidity and other price risks. In addition, the Group’s equity
instruments at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity security price risk due to the fluctuation of fair value
of equity instruments at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between shareholder return and a sound
capital position. Adjustments are made, when necessary, to maintain an

optimal capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Technology

The Group relies on information technology systems and networks,
including internet and third-party hosted services for the Group’s
operation, inventory management and financial reporting. Any material
disruption or slowdown of information technology systems, such as a
disruption or slowdown caused by failure to successfully upgrade the
Group’s systems, system failures, viruses or cyber attacks could cause
a loss of data or operation interruption. Therefore, the Group will
continuously monitor and update, if necessary, relevant information
technology systems and networks so as to reduce failure and keep up

with the development of technology.
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(f) Employees

The Group’s success and ability to grow depends largely on its ability
to attract, train, retain, and motivate highly skilled and qualified
managerial, workers, marketing, administrative, operating, and technical
personnel. The loss of key personnel could materially and adversely

affect the Group’s prospects and operations.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 30 April 2023, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities
(30 April 2022: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 April 2023, the total number of full-time employees of the Group was
50 (30 April 2022: 84). Total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
amounted to approximately HK$36.1 million for the Year (Last Year:
approximately HK$44.9 million). Employees were remunerated according
to their performance and working experience during the Year. In addition
to basic salaries and contribution to the mandatory provident fund scheme,
staff benefits include performance bonus, medical scheme, share options and

training.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company,

or any of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities.
EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

There is no important event affecting the Group which have occurred since
30 April 2023.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee of the Board (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference that clearly establish the Audit
Committee’s authority and duties. The Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors as at the date of this annual report,
namely Mr. Law Man Sang, Mr. Lo Ka Ki and Ms. Lam Wai Yu.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Company’s
annual reports and accounts, interim reports and quarterly reports and to
provide advice and comments thereon to the Board. The Audit Committee is
also responsible for reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process

and risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
Four Audit Committee meetings were held during the Year.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements of

the Group for the Year.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. So Yu Shing ( # & B ) (“Dr. So”), aged 71, was the chairman of the
Group (“Chairman”), an executive Director with effect from 23 July 2001
and a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Dr. So joined
the Group in September 1991. He holds a bachelor of arts degree from the
University of Hong Kong and a master of science degree with distinction
in engineering business management from the University of Warwick in the
United Kingdom. In 2009, he acquired a doctorate degree in building and
construction from the City University of Hong Kong. Furthermore, Dr. So
possesses the Registered Safety Officer qualification. Dr. So served in the
Labour Department of the Hong Kong Government before joining Wui Loong
Scaffolding Works Company Limited (“Wui Loong Scaffolding”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, on 17 September 1991. Dr. So resigned
and retired as an executive Director and the Chairman with effect from 2 May
2023.
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Ms. Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca (R Bi#) (“Ms. Lai”), aged 68, was an
executive Director with effect from 6 August 2001 and a director of a number
of subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Lai joined the Group in March 1988 and
had been actively involved in the management of the Group. She had been
engaged in the teaching profession for over 19 years before joining Wui Loong
Scaffolding in 1988. Ms. Lai resigned and retired as an executive Director
with effect from 19 December 2022.
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Mr. Kong Kam Wang (YL # %) (“Mr. Kong”), aged 66, was the chief
executive officer of the Company (“Chief Executive Officer”), an executive
Director and a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Kong graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1981 with
a bachelor’s degree in business management with honours. Mr. Kong also
obtained an executive master of business administration degree (EMBA) from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He has over 21 years of experience in
the banking industry and has held senior management positions specialising
in corporate banking as well as retail banking in a number of banks in Hong
Kong and the PRC. Before joining the Company in March 2002 and being
appointed as an executive Director in June 2002, Mr. Kong was the Vice
President and Zone Manager of First Pacific Bank Limited. In 1994, Mr.
Kong was assigned by First Pacific Bank Limited as representative to set up
a Shenzhen representative office in the PRC. During that period, Mr. Kong
established close relationships with various PRC Government bureaus
and other foreign financial institutions whilst stationed in the Shenzhen
representative office. Mr. Kong was an independent non-executive director
of KNK Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8039), a company whose shares
are listed on GEM, from 21 November 2016 to 28 August 2019. Mr. Kong
resigned as an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer with effect
from 16 November 2022.
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Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond ( # % #£) (“Mr. Edmond So”), aged 34, joined
the Group in 2012 as a finance manager in charge of the corporate finance matters
of the Group and has been appointed as an executive Director with effect from
17 March 2014. Mr. Edmond So is also a director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Edmond So is involved in the management of scaffolding
business of the Group. He graduated from the University of Southern California in
the United States of America with a bachelor of arts degree in sociology. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Edmond So gained experience in corporate finance, initial
public offerings and other financial advisory services by working for a year in a
corporate advisory firm which provides advisory services to the PRC and Hong
Kong based companies.
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Mr. Tse Fung Chun (#{ ¥ %) (“Mr. Tse”), aged 34, joined the Group in
August 2020. He was an executive Director, the company secretary of the
Company (“Company Secretary”), the compliance officer of the Company and
a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. He was responsible
for overseeing and monitoring corporate exercises and accounting and finance
functions of the Group. He obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from
University of Queensland in Australia in 2011. Mr. Tse is a certified public
accountant of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and CPA Australia and a chartered management accountant
of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. He has over ten
years of experience in auditing, accounting and corporate governance.

Mr. Tse is currently the company secretary and the authorised representative
of Trendzon Holdings Group Limited, formerly known as Pipeline
Engineering Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1865), a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 18 June
2021 and the company secretary and the authorised representative of
Mansion International Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8456) since April
2022. Mr. Tse resigned as an executive Director, the Company Secretary
and the compliance officer of the Company with effect from 31 May 2023.

REE S S o () e S o R
ARG R T SRR ER R
PNt S I A B S o e D
AT 134F 1Y B 55 A8 R AL B o R R E M
B~ o 8 B SRR A DR RS DL B BB 20 M D5 T
A AR

Mr. Yang Haijia (85 ¥# ) , aged 35, joined the Group in May 2023. He
obtained a Master’s degree in Finance from Queen’s University, Canada in
2019. Mr. Yang has over 13 years of financial management experience in the
PRC and Hong Kong. He has extensive experience of investment planning,
coordinating and supporting integration planning, and financial analysis.
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Ms. Wang Lili ( E#j#j) , aged 42, joined the Group in May 2023. She was
graduated from the Open University of China, majoring in financial accounting
in 2016. Ms. Wang has extensive experience of market development, project
bidding, investment fund and supervise finance department in China.

EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Ka Ki (EEXKEL) (“Mr. Lo™), aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 26 February 2018. Mr. Lo has obtained
his master degree of professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in October 2009. He is a practising member of the HKICPA and a fellow
member of the ACCA. Mr. Lo has over 12 years of experience in audit and business
advisory services and is currently the managing director of a CPA practice. Mr. Lo
has previously worked as an auditor at RSM Nelson Wheeler (currently known as
RSM Hong Kong) (“RSM”) from December 2005 to June 2007, a senior accountant
at LifeTec Enterprise Limited and a qualified accountant at Paradise Entertainment
Limited (Stock Code: 1180), a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, from June 2007 to July 2009 and an audit senior and later on
a manager at RSM from December 2009 to November 2014.

Mr. Lo is currently an independent non-executive director of China Smarter Energy
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1004), a company whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 25 April 2021, Mr. Lo was an
independent non-executive director of Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (Stock
Code: 2182), a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from February 2018 to May 2019.
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Mr. Law Man Sang ( & 3C 4 ) (“Mr. Law”), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 December 2014. He
has joined KGI Asia Limited, a licensed corporation under the SFO, since
December 2004 and is currently the executive director of such company.
Since June 2005, he has been acting as a responsible officer of KGI Asia
Limited in relation to Type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity under
the SFO. Since September 2009, he has been acting as a responsible officer
of KGI Futures (Hong Kong) Limited in relation to Type 2 (dealing in futures
contracts) regulated activity under the SFO. Since March 2013, he has been
acting as a responsible officer of KGI Asia Limited in relation to Type 4
(advising on securities) regulated activity under the SFO and of KGI Futures
(Hong Kong) Limited in relation to Type 5 (advising on futures contracts)
regulated activity under the SFO. Since February 2019, he has been acting as
a responsible officer of KGI Asset Management Limited in relation to Type 9
(asset management) regulated activity under the SFO. Mr. Law has extensive
experience in financial service management and actively participates in
various social and community organisations in both Hong Kong and the PRC.
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Ms. Lam Wai Yu (%2 W) (“Ms. Lam™), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 27 June 2017. She has
over 17 years of experience in the logistic industry. Ms. Lam was the general
manager of Harper Shipping Limited from 12 May 1998 to 31 December
2020, a Hong Kong private company which is principally engaged in shipping
business, and is mainly responsible for supervising business operation as well

as screening projects in the PRC, Hong Kong and other countries.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Chin Ming ( # J& B]) (“Mr. Wong™), aged 49, is the chief financial
officer and the company secretary of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the
Group in April 2023. He holds a Master’s degree of Business Administration
from University of Hull, UK. Mr. Wong is currently a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”). Mr.
Wong has extensive experience in the fields of financial, company secretarial,

auditing and accounting.
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Ms. Yeung Wai Yan, Flora (#5 % %) (“Ms. Yeung”), aged 39, is the financial
controller of the Company. Ms. Yeung joined the Group in October 2015.
She holds a bachelor degree in accounting and finance from The University
of Hong Kong. Ms. Yeung is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and CPA (Australia)
and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
(“HKICS”). Ms. Yeung had over 16 years’ experience in auditing, accounting

and financial management and corporate secretarial service.

EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited
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Mr. So Yu Fai, David ( # ¥ i) (“Mr. David So”), aged 64, joined the Group
in 2006 as a director of Skylon International Limited (“Skylon International’),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company carrying out gondolas rental
business. Mr. David So has a bachelor degree with honours in buildings
economics from a university in the United Kingdom and a master degree
in project management from a university in Australia. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors and the Chartered Institute of Building. He had served on a number
of committees of these professional bodies over the last 25 years and has
an in-depth knowledge of professional matters related to a wide variety
of construction standards and ethics. In addition to his wide experience in
construction works, he also worked for the Australian Federal Government as

an administration officer for several years.
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Ms. Li Wan Yee, Patricia (Z=# 5%8) (“Ms. Li”), aged 41, is the general
manager of Skylon International. She also assists in handling of company
secretarial matters. Ms. Li joined the Group in January 2016. She holds a
bachelor’s degree in accounting and finance from the University of Melbourne
in Australia. She is a certified public accountant of the CPA Australia and a
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (HKICS) and
the Hong Kong Business Accountants Association (HKBAA). She had over 18
years’ experience in accounting management, audit and corporate secretarial

practice.
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For the information of the shareholders of the Company, Dr. So Yu Shing, was
the Chairman and an executive Director, is the spouse of Ms. Lai Yuen Mei,
Rebecca, an executive Director. Dr. So and Ms. Lai are the parents of Mr. So
Wang Chun, Edmond, an executive Director. The brother of Mr. So Wang
Chun, Edmond is the spouse of Ms. Li Wan Yee, Patricia, a member of the
senior management of the Group. Dr. So is also the brother of Mr. So Yu Fai,

Daivd, a member of the senior management of the Group.

No Director is a director or employee of a company which has an interest
in the share capital of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions in Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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CHANGES OF DIRECTORS AND INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS

The changes in Directors and information of Directors subsequent to the
Listing Date, as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the
GEM Listing Rules, are set out below:

5 W) 5
Details of Changes

AR e

Mr. Kong Kam Wang

Rkt

Ms. Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca

B Y B 1

Dr. So Yu Shing

it 16 4

Mr. Yang Haijia

RSB

Mr. Tse Fung Chun

FFIA &+

Ms. Wang Lili

EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 16 November 2022, Mr.
Kong Kam Wang resigned as Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

of the Company.
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 19 December 2022, Ms.

Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca resigned as Executive Director of the Company.
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 2 May 2023, Dr. So
Yu Shing resigned as the Chairman, Executive Director and chairman of the

Nomination Committee of the Company.
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 2 May 2023 and 31 May
2023, Mr. Yang Haijia was appointed as Executive Director, the chairman of

Nomination Committee and Compliance Officer of the Company.
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 31 May 2023, Mr. Tse
Fung Chun resigned as Executive Director, the Company Secretary, the
Compliance Officer, an Authorised Representative and the Process Agent of

the Company.
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 31 May 2023, Ms. Wang

Lili was appointed as Executive Director of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to establishing
good corporate governance practices and procedures. The maintenance of high
standard of business ethics and corporate governance practices has always
been one of the Company’s goals. The Company believes that good corporate
governance provides a framework that is essential for effective management,
successful business growth and a healthy corporate culture, thereby leading to

the enhancement of shareholders’ value.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the Year, the Company has complied with all the code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules except the

following deviations:

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1, the roles of Chairman (the “Chairman”)
and chief executive officer (the “CEO”) should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and the CEO should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The Group currently has no Chairman and CEO. The daily operation and
management of the Group is monitored by executive Directors. The Board
is of the view that although there is no chairman and chief executive officer,
the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced individuals who would meet from time to time
to discuss issues affecting operation of the Group. This arrangement can still
enable the Group to make and implement decisions promptly, and thus achieve
the Group’s objectives efficiently and effectively in response to the changing

environment.

The Group will, the appropriate time, arrange for the election of the new
chairman and CEO of the Board.
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EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

The Board, which comprised six Directors as at the date of this corporate
governance report, is collectively responsible for supervising the management
of the business and affairs of the Company and the Group. Biographical
details of the Directors and their relationships are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management Profiles” of this annual report. All
Directors devoted sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company
and the Group during the Year.

As at the date of this corporate governance report, the Board had three executive
Directors, namely Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond, Mr. Yang Haijia and Ms. Wang
Lili and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Law Man Sang,
Mr. Lo Ka Ki and Ms. Lam Wai Yu.

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors is considered by
the Board to be a reasonable balance between executive and non-executive
Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance can provide adequate
checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and the
Company. The independent non-executive Directors provide to the Company
a wide range of expertise and experience so that independent judgement can
be effectively exercised and the interests of all shareholders will be taken
into account. They are also responsible for participating in Board meetings,
dealing with potential conflicts of interest, serving on the Audit Committee,
the remuneration committee of the Board (“Remuneration Committee™)
and the nomination committee of the Board (“Nomination Committee”),
scrutinising the Company and the Group’s performance and reporting. They
provide their valuable skills, expertise and experience to the Board and the
committees of the Board on which they serve so that the management process
can be critically reviewed and controlled.

During the Year and as at the date of this corporate governance report, at
least one of the independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise, and the Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his/her independence and the Company
considers such Directors to be independent in accordance with Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Board Diversity

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element.
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”)
with effect from 1 September 2013. All Board appointments have been and
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against

objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Nomination and selection of candidates for Board membership by the
Nomination Committee have been and will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge. The
Nomination Committee is of the opinion that a balanced diversity of the
Board has been achieved during the Year and as at the date of this corporate

governance report.
Board Meetings

Board meetings are held at least four times every year. At least 14 days’
notices of regular Board meetings are given to all Directors and all
Directors will be all given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda
for discussion at Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company
(“Company Secretary”) assists the Board in preparing the agenda for the
meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations in connection
with the meetings are observed and complied with. The finalised agenda and
accompanying board papers are then sent to all Directors at least three days

prior to the date of Board meetings.
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During the Year, 7 Board meetings were held and the following is an
attendance record of the meetings by each Director:

Aok e v
AR RATIY
kBB (I RE)
Number of
meetings attended/
Total number of R &
meetings held during Attendance
s H Attendees the Year (Note) percentage
PiTEF Executive Directors
BT (B ZFZ=AE LA ZAREHE) So Yu Shing (resigned effective from
2 May 2023) 717 100%
Ripigh (A _F =+ H HJUHERHE) Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca (resigned
effective from 19 December 2022) 6/6 100%
8% (A ZF 2+ —H N HRET) Kong Kam Wang (resigned effective from
16 November 2022) 3/3 100%
o 2 o So Wang Chun, Edmond 717 100%
WEF(AZZZFAH = +— HREHT) Tse Fung Chun (resigned effective from
31 May 2023) 717 100%
BT E S Independent Non-executive Directors
B Law Man Sang 717 100%
e-$ ! Lam Wai Yu 17 100%
i 7 B Lo Ka Ki 17 100%

Wi ek 2% R AR AR 2 R U 2 %
AR T 8447 2 B sk G 5

IAEE  REFGENRT R EF
T e il GE AR o W B A A I 2 R R B
B 5 3R B 7 w4 BE B AR SE AR 4R AR
JETES 558 AR af Be g HoAb B
F W8 A 5 50 ol A 4 A R LA T

O R R A U R A A 0
B R BRI T AR B R R
M BT A P 58 DL R & kb 4R D 2 BE I
REZREER (WA) o & sk Bk 100 iR |
R A AR FE VI AT UL T s R g
A aBR I DU ST B o AT o 32 2 m A
A AT & B R ) 2SR 25 B T A el 8%
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Note: Attendances of the Directors during the Year were counted with reference to the
number of such meeting(s) held during their respective tenures.

During the regular meetings of the Board held during the Year, the Directors
discussed and formulated the overall strategies of the Company and the Group,
monitored financial performances, discussed the annual and interim results,
set annual budgets, and discussed and decided on other significant matters.
The execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the management of
the Group.

The Company Secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting
in detail by keeping minutes, including the record of all resolutions of the
Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any)
during the meeting. Drafts of Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for
comment and approval as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes
are open for inspection at any reasonable time on request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information at all times as
the Chairman ensures that the management will supply the Board and its
committees with all relevant information in a timely manner. They may make
further enquiries if it is in their opinion necessary or appropriate to request
for further information. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary, who is held responsible for providing
Directors with board papers and related materials and ensuring that all proper
Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations are followed and
complied with. If considered necessary and appropriate by the Directors, they
may retain independent professional advisers at the Company’s expense.
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In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving a substantial
shareholder of the Company or a Director, such matter will be discussed in
a physical meeting and will not be dealt with by way of written resolutions.
Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be

present at such meetings dealing with the conflict issue.

The Board committees, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, have all adopted the applicable

practices and procedures used in Board meetings for all committee meetings.
Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the Company
are the primary forum for communication between the Company and
its shareholders and opportunities for shareholders’ participation. All
shareholders are encouraged to attend the general meetings or to appoint
proxy(ies) to attend and vote at such meetings on their behalf if they are

unable to attend the meetings.

During the Year, the Company has held one general meeting, being the annual
general meeting on 28 October 2022 (“2022 AGM”). The attendance record of

each Director at the general meeting are as follows:

JBCHR K A R R SR I
[ S S8/
A AR R AT I
JBe 3K €1 IR
Number of general
meetings attended/
Number of general Ly
meetings held Attendance
hEH Attendees during the Year percentage
AT H R Executive Directors
R T AL So Yu Shing 1/1 100%
R Ytk Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca 1/1 100%
VL8R Kong Kam Wang 1/1 100%
W 2 ot So Wang Chun, Edmond 1/1 100%
e A Tse Fung Chun 1/1 100%
B IEMATHEF Independent Non-executive Directors
B Law Man Sang 1/1 100%
ARE Lam Wai Yu 1/1 100%
i A B Lo KaKi 1/1 100%
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The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1, the roles of Chairman (the “Chairman’)
and chief executive officer (the “CEO”) should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the

Chairman and the CEO should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The Group currently has no Chairman and CEO. The daily operation and
management of the Group is monitored by executive Directors. The Board
is of the view that although there is no chairman and chief executive officer,
the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced individuals who would meet from time to time
to discuss issues affecting operation of the Group. This arrangement can still
enable the Group to make and implement decisions promptly, and thus achieve
the Group’s objectives efficiently and effectively in response to the changing

environment.

The Group will at the appropriate time, arrange for the election of the new
chairman and CEO of the Board.

The Company Secretary

Mr. Tse Fung Chun, CPA resigned as the company secretary of the Company
effect from 31 May 2023. In compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Company Secretary had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant

professional training during the Year.

Mr. Wong Chin Ming has been appointed as the company secretary of the
Company with effect from 31 May 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director will receive a formal, comprehensive and
tailor-made induction training on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of the Director’s responsibilities under the
statues and common law, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies. The
Company Secretary and the compliance officer of the Company will
continuously update all Directors on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance of the same by all Directors. During the year ended 30 April 2023,
the Directors had participated in continuous professional developments and
received training conducted by the Company’s Hong Kong legal advisers in

respect of their duties and responsibilities as a director of a listed company.
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The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors to
refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their duties and responsibilities
as part of their continuous professional development. All Directors are also
encouraged to attend relevant training courses provided by legal advisers
and/or any appropriated institutions at the Company’s expense and they have
been requested to provide the Company with their training records. According
to the training records maintained by the Company, the trainings received by
the each of the Directors (including Directors’ induction training) for the year
ended 30 April 2023 and up to the date of this annual report are summarised

as follows:

] bkt
Type of

HHEEA Name of Directors trainings
HATHE S Executive Directors
R Tl AL So Yu Shing B
B2t 1% Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca B
YL % Kong Kam Wang B
ok 7 AfE So Wang Chun, Edmond B
HER Tse Fung Chun A,B
i 1 Yang Haijia B
T F] Wang Lili B
BorJEBATH S Independent Non-executive Directors
A Law Man Sang B
A Lam Wai Yu B
JHE % L Lo Ka Ki AB
A SHLWEI G Gk R e IR A: attending seminars/conferences/forums/training sessions
B: 58] AT A A RE B SRS N WA YA ME B: reading newspapers/journals and updates relating to the economy, general

25 1 A I 00 A 7
ERENHFRH

A TR B E AT SRS T
HAg 3 = > B GEM L i 1 HI 555.48 85.671%
T #2258 Ty 0~ HE I [R] B S A o K8 10) A i B
FAEH B A% > SRR B TR ATF
JE 3 <F GEM b T BRI By #2238 5 b < HE Rl J2
ARANFEERETELLH NIRRT e
MBEARELNFABIAANAFRZANFHEZ
A B AR B IR B 25 57 N AR H GEM L i BRI BT
A TR AR B o AN AL AR AR B NI A AT fo]
BRI

business, corporate governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted procedures governing Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Specific enquiries
have been made of all Directors and confirmations have been obtained from
all Directors that they have complied with the required standard of dealings in
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company’s procedures governing Directors’
securities transactions during the Year. Relevant employees, who are likely
to be in possession of inside information of the Company or securities of
the Company, are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less
exacting terms than those set out in the GEM Listing Rules. No incident of

non-compliance was noted by the Company during the Year.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2006. The chairman of the
committee is Mr. Law Man Sang, an independent non-executive Director.
Other members of this committee include Ms. Lam Wai Yu and Mr. Lo Ka Ki,
both being independent non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating and recommending
to the Board on the remuneration policy, making recommendation to the
Board on remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, as well as reviewing and making recommendation on the
Company’s share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other
compensation-related issues. This committee consults with the Chairman on
its proposals and recommendations and has access to independent professional
advice if necessary. The Remuneration Committee is also provided with other
resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted
on websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration
Committee meets at least once a year.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held. At the
meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed matters relating to the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management of the Group. The

following is an attendance record of the meeting by each committee member:

W asRE

A AE PR ATHY

ok A (B L)

Number of

meetings attended
Total number of R
meetings held during Attendance
LS Attendees the Year (Note) percentage
B Law Man Sang 1/1 100%
ME N Lam Wai Yu 1/1 100%
JiE 5% Lo Ka Ki /1 100%

W © 45 070 % L LA i 2
H Y AR SCAE P 7 47
Z R

Note: Attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year was counted with

reference to the number of such meeting(s) held during their respective tenures.

A4 EmERARAT WLS Holdings Limited
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. The chairman of the
committee is Mr. Yang Haijia an executive Director. Other members of this
committee include Ms. Lam Wai Yu and Mr. Lo Ka Ki, both being independent

non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board at least annually, making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s and
the Group’s corporate strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become members of the Board and selecting individuals to be nominated for
directorship, assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with, among others, the factors set out in Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the
Stock Exchange from time to time, and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning

for the Directors.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a director nomination policy
(“Director Nomination Policy”) on 31 December 2018 which came into effect
on 1 January 2019, which serves to improve the transparency of the process
and criteria in selecting and recommending candidates as Directors for the
Board’s approval from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board.
The Directors and the Nomination Committee will consider and nominate
candidates, according to the Director Nomination Policy based on objective
criteria such as the appropriate qualifications, ability and perspectives
that would enable them to effectively fulfill their potential roles and
responsibilities as Directors, with due regard to the benefits of diversity and
measurable objectives including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
education background as set out in the Board Diversity Policy, to the Board

for approval.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed and believes that the
current composition of the Board reflects an achievement of full consideration
of factors of Board diversity. The Board Diversity Policy will be reviewed on

a regular basis to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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Shareholders may also propose a person for election as Director at the general
meetings of the Company pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-
laws”). The procedures for shareholders to nominate directors are posted on

the website of the Company.

The specific terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange. The Nomination
Committee meets at least once a year. During the Year, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to nominate candidates for directorships and
review the composition of the Board. The attendance record of the meeting by

each committee member is as follows:

YR f ¥/ e Ve

AR JE BT

ik BB ()

Number of

meetings attended
Total number of i =
meetings held during Attendance
& Attendees the Year (Note) percentage
it Yang Haijia N/A
(AZZF =0 H ZHEERE) (appointed with effect from 2 May 2023) 0/0 A

U951 So Yu Shing

(AZZ =4 HHZHEEHT) (resigned with effect from 2 May 2023) 1/1 100%
AREm Lam Wai Yu /1 100%
i 2% Lo KaKi 1/1 100%

et : R4 Z B G RBRAEEZ BRI Note: Attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee during the Year was counted
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with reference to the number of such meeting(s) held during their respective tenures.

Term of Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of three years, thereafter continuous until
terminated by either party giving to the other not less than three months’
notice in writing, or by payment of three months’ salary in lieu of such notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been appointed for a
term of one year unless terminated by one month’s notice in writing.

In accordance with Bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. As such, each of Mr.
Law Man Sang and Ms. Lam Wai Yu shall retire at the annual general meeting
and each of them, being eligible, will offer himself/herself for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Mr. Yang Haijia and Ms. Wang Lili were appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 2 May 2023 and 31 May 2023 respectively.

Pursuant to Bye-law 83 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Yang Haijia and Ms. Wang Lili
will hold office only until the annual general meeting, and being eligible,
will offer himself/herself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Audit Committee and Accountability

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the performance and prospects of the Company and the Group.
The Board is also responsible for preparing the accounts of the Company,
which shall give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
on a going-concern basis, and other inside information announcements
and other financial disclosures. The management of the Group provides all
relevant information and records to the Board enabling it to conduct the above
assessment and to prepare the accounts and other financial disclosures.

During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the quarterly reports for the
three months ended 31 July 2022 and for the nine months ended 31 January
2023, the interim report for the six months ended 31 October 2022 and
the annual report for the year ended 30 April 2022. The Audit Committee
also reviewed the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
accounting principles, practices and compliance.

The Audit Committee, established in 2001, is chaired by Mr. Lo Ka Ki, an
independent non-executive Director and the other members of this committee
include Mr. Law Man Sang and Ms. Lam Wai Yu, both being independent
non-executive Directors.

No existing member of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing
auditing firm of the Company.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the independence of
the auditors of the Company, the audit process and the standard of reports
aforesaid. This annual report has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee’s primary duties include ensuring that the Company’s
financial statements, annual, interim and quarterly reports and the auditor’s
report present a true and balanced assessment of the Company’s and the
Group’s financial position; reviewing the Company’s and the Group’s financial
control, internal control and risk management systems; and reviewing the
Company’s financial and accounting policies and practices. Other duties of
the Audit Committee are set out in its specific terms of reference which are
posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange. The Audit
Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its
duties.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings to carry out its

ThExXmdkz TEWRT - SEZEFMA LT primary duties as mentioned above. The attendance record of the meetings by
kR sk each committee member is as follows:
i &k
A AE B AT Y
o ok AR B (B RE)
Number of
meetings attended
Total number of &R
meetings held during Attendance
& Attendees the Year (Note) percentage
A S Law Man Sang 4/4 100%
PR Lam Wai Yu 4/4 100%
i % B Lo Ka Ki 4/4 100%
et S HEEZ B GMANAMFEEZH Note: Attendance of the members of the Audit Committee during the Year was counted with reference to
FE R BUIRIE AR W T84T 2 & the number of such meeting(s) held during their respective tenures.
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AR HEAEFFEERZE G GRZ TR The Company Secretary keeps full minutes of all Audit Committee meetings
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in line with practices of the Board meetings and other Board committee
meetings. Draft and final versions of Audit Committee meeting minutes are
circulated to all members of the Audit Committee for comments, approval and

record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

Directors’ responsibility in preparing consolidated financial
statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the consolidated
financial statements and ensuring that the preparation of the accounts is in

accordance with statutory requirements and applicable standards.

The statement of the auditors of the Company in relation to their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the

Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 67 to 73 of this annual report.
Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Company
has adequate resources to continue its operational existence for the foreseeable
future and for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in

preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Function

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions such as
determining, developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc. During the Year, the
Board has developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and made recommendations to the Board; reviewed
and monitored the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; reviewed and monitored the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors; and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this corporate governance
report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The aggregate remuneration in respect of audit services provided by D &
PARTNERS CPA LIMITED to the Group during the Year was approximately
HK$650,000 (Last Year: approximately HK$650,000) and nil (Last Year:
approximately nil) non-audit service.

Delegation by the Board

The Board is responsible for making decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors have formal
service contracts or letters of appointment setting out key terms and conditions
regarding their appointments. Due to the diversity and volume of the Group’s
business, responsibility in relation to the daily operations and execution of the

strategic business plans are delegated to management of the Group.

All Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, have specific terms of reference
clearly defining the authorities and responsibilities of the respective
committees. All Board committees are required by their terms of reference to
report to the Board in relation to their decisions, findings or recommendations,
and in certain specific situations, to seek the Board’s approval before taking
any actions.

The Board reviews, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the Board to different
Board committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and they
continue to be beneficial to the Company and its shareholders (“Shareholders™)
as a whole.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and officers’ liability to
provide adequate cover, as determined by the Board, in respect of the Board
members and senior management of the Company as from June 2010 and

renewed annually in June since 2011.
Shareholder Relations

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and
employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information to
its shareholders. The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive
and transparent reporting of the Group’s activities can be reflected in many

aspects.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful forum for the
Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. A majority of the Directors
made an effort to attend the Company’s general meeting so that they may

answer any questions from the Shareholders.

The Chairman was also actively involved in organising, and personally chaired
the 2022 AGM during the Year in order to ensure that Shareholders’ views
were being communicated to the Board. A separate resolution was proposed

by the Chairman in respect of each separate issue at the 2022 AGM.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed by the Board
from time to time to ensure the Company conforms to the best practices
regarding corporate governance. The relevant circular, which was circulated
to all Shareholders at least 21 days prior to the holding of the annual general
meeting, sets out the details in relation to each resolution proposed, voting
procedures and other relevant information. Members of the Board and D &
PARTNERS CPA LIMITED, the auditors of the Company, attended the 2022
AGM to answer questions of the Shareholders and all the resolutions were
put to vote by poll and Union Registrars Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office, was engaged as scrutineer to ensure

that all votes were properly counted.

The Company also communicates with the Shareholders through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports and by means of announcement and circular
if and when necessary. The Directors, the Company Secretary or other
appropriate members of the senior management also respond promptly to

inquiries from Shareholders and potential investors of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene general meetings

Subject to the Bye-laws, the GEM Listing Rules and the applicable laws and
regulations, Shareholders may convene general meetings of the Company in
accordance with the following procedures:

1. Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company as at the date of deposit of the requisition (“Requisitionists”)
may require the Board to convene a general meeting of the Company by
depositing written requisitions at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong at Rooms 1001-1006, 10th Floor, Tower A, Southmark,
No. 11 Yip Hing Street, Wong Chuk Hang, Aberdeen, Hong Kong
specifying the business to be transacted in such meeting and signed by
the Requisitionists. Such meeting shall be held within two months after

the deposit of such requisition; and

2. if the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the Requisitionists
themselves may do so in accordance with the provisions of Section
74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

The Company established a shareholders’ communication policy which had
been uploaded to the Company’s website (http://www.wls.com.hk) and details
of communication with the Board could be found in the policy.

Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary by post to the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong at Rooms 1001-1006, 10th Floor, Tower A,
Southmark, No. 11 Yip Hing Street, Wong Chuk Hang, Aberdeen, Hong Kong.

Investor relations

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure
of corporate information to the Shareholders and potential investors.
The Company updates Shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its annual, interim and quarterly
reports, notices, announcements and circulars. The Company’s website
(www.wls.com.hk) provides a communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders.

To strengthen its relationship with investors, the Company regularly meets

with analysts and holds interviews with reporters and columnists of the press

and other economic journals.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, (i) shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all shareholders
having a right to vote at the general meeting; or (ii) not less than one hundred
shareholders, can submit a written requisition stating the resolution which is
intended to be moved at a general meeting, or to submit a statement of not
more than one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any

proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

Such written requisition shall be made to the Board or the Company Secretary
at the Company’s head office and principal place of business at Rooms
1001-1006, 10th Floor, Tower A, Southmark, No. 11 Yip Hing Street, Wong
Chuk Hang, Aberdeen, Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information
of the Shareholder, his/her/its contact details and the proposal he/she/it intends
to put forward at a general meeting in the manner as mentioned above together

with supporting documents.
Constitutional documents

During the Year, the Bye-laws were amended (the “Amendment”) in order to
bring the Bye-laws in line with the GEM Listing Rules and the applicable laws
of the Bermuda, and to incorporate certain minor housekeeping amendments.
The special resolution in relation to the Amendment was passed on 28
October 2022. For further information, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 26 September 2022 and the circular of the Company dated
27 September 2022. An up-to-date version of the Company’s Bye-laws is

available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its duty to monitor the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group on an ongoing basis and review their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable

and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the Year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review on the effectiveness of both the design and implementation of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, with a
view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programme and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee will

communicate any material issues to the Board.
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During the Year, the Group appointed Billion Rex Corporate Financial Limited
(“BRCFL ") to:

. assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group through a

series of workshops and interviews; and

. independently perform internal control review and assess effectiveness

of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment conducted by BRCFL
were reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover, improvements
in internal control and risk management measures as recommended by
BRCFL to enhance the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and mitigate risks of the Group were adopted by the Board. Based on
the findings and recommendations of BRCFL as well as the comments of
the Audit Committee, the Board considered that the internal control and risk

management systems of the Group are effective and adequate.

The Group has established internal control procedures for the handling and
dissemination of inside information in order to comply with Chapter 17 of
the GEM Listing Rules as well as Part XIVA of the SFO. The internal control
mechanism includes information flow and reporting processes, confidentiality

arrangements, disclosure procedures and staff training arrangements, etc.
Our Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group has established its enterprise risk management framework in
2016. While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound and
effective internal controls are maintained, management is responsible for
designing and implementing an internal control system to manage all kinds of

risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks are identified,
assessed, prioritised and allocated treatments. The risk management
framework follows the COSO Enterprise Risk Management — Integrated
Framework, which allows the Board and management to manage the risks of
the Group effectively. The Board receives regular reports through the Audit

Committee which oversees risk management and internal audit functions.
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Principal Risks

During the Year, the following principal risks of the Group were identified and

classified into strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance

R - risks.
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Strategic Risks

i

o T B

Operational Risks
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Financial Risks

5 HLE B

Compliance Risks
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AT SR T R 5 T A SRR
Competitor landscape, risk of failure to meet customers’ expectation, risk
of over concentration of customer bases and risk of failure to maintain a

competitive edge in terms of construction innovation and process improvement

BHE B A 22248 T BB IR 2~ A B - B O T R DR B Y
Bt~ AN - SR R R SRR SO R R A PR R

N T~ BT o3 6 B VR TE N B 45 R TR B R e R ) R AT o€
4 i~ 2 AR G i T A 9 AR K

Insufficient safety guidelines and trainings to employees, risk of technology
breakdown, loss of business opportunity, risk of information leakage, risk of
burglary/stealing of resources by outside parties, poor quality of equipment
and resources, concentration of decision maker, decline in manpower, risk of
having new subcontractors and potential injury, risk of failure to complete
work before deadline, increase in operating costs and delay in repayment of

loans

O B 2~ A R~ A R L B B ) R L

Liquidity risk, credit risk, foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate risk

B A~ Al R T B A AR A1) 6 AN LR RR R i A 4 A LB
Risk of non-compliance of ordinances related to safety, health and

environment and risk of legal disputes
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Our Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” corporate governance structure
with operational management and controls performed by management of the
operational department, coupled with risk management monitoring carried
out by the finance and compliance team and independent internal audit
outsourced to and conducted by BRCFL. The Group maintains a risk register
to keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The risk register
provides the Board, the Audit Committee, and management with a profile of
the Group’s major risks and records management’s action taken to mitigate the
relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually based on its likelihood
of occurrence and potential impact upon the Group. The risk register is
updated by management as the risk owners with addition of new risks and/or
removal of existing risks, if applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk
evaluation has been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk owners have
access to the risk register and are aware of and alert to those risks in their area

of responsibility so that they can take follow-up action in an efficient manner.

The risk management activities of the Group are performed by management
on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of the risk management framework
will be evaluated at least annually, and periodic management meeting is held
to update the progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed
to ensure that risk management forms part of the daily business operation
processes in order to align risk management with corporate goals in an

effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent professionals to
review the Group’s systems of internal controls and risk management annually
and further enhance the Group’s internal control and risk management systems

as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The Directors
have reviewed the need for an internal audit function and are of the view that
in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, it
would be more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals
to perform internal audit function for the Group in order to meet its needs.
Nevertheless, the Directors will continue to review at least annually the need

for an internal audit function.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the Year. All cross-references mentioned in this directors’ report

form part of this directors’ report.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of
its principal subsidiaries and associates are set out in notes 44 and 19, to the

consolidated financial statements respectively.
RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on pages 74 to 75 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the Year (Last

Year: nil).
BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Description of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and the likely future
development of the Group can be found in the “Management Discussion and

Analysis” section of this annual report.
Relationships with Employees, Suppliers and Customers

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate its
employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market

standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture. The Group also
understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers
and customers to accomplish its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain
its market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
constantly high quality service to its customers. During the Year, there was no
material and significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or

customers.
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According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows an
average credit period from 30 days to 90 days to customers. In extending
credit terms to customers, the Group will carefully assess each of their
creditworthiness and financial standing. Management will also closely monitor
all outstanding debts and review their collectability periodically.

The largest customer of the Group is Sanfield Building Contractors Limited
(“SBCL”), which contributed to approximately 39% of the Group’s turnover
for the Year.

The credit terms given to SBCL accord with the payment terms stipulated in
the relevant tenders or contracts entered into between the Group and SBCL
which are in line with those granted to other customers of the Group. The
subsequent settlement of trade receivables from SBCL is on track with its
settlement history and there is no provision made during the Year.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The Group is committed to environment protection and sustainable
development through promoting and adopting green practices in its business
activities. One of the essential goals of the Group is to organise construction
operations in the most environmental-friendly manner while keeping energy
consumption at minimum. One example is the use and promotion of the
Metal-Bamboo Matrix System Scaffold (MBMSS) since 1999, which can
reduce construction waste. In addition, initiatives within the Group include,
but not limited to, waste reduction by double side printing and separating
recyclable paper, green procurement by avoiding single-use disposable
items and using office equipment with Energy Label issued by the Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department of the Hong Kong Government, and
energy reduction by switching off idle electronic appliances. The Group
will continually review its green practices to integrate environmental, health
and safety management and compliance considerations into operational
processes. By promoting green awareness amongst, and maintaining dialogue
with, employees and business partners, the Group is determined to improve
the environmental performance of its daily business operations towards
establishing a sustainable environment. The Directors are not aware of
any material non-compliance with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations during the Year. Further information on the Group’s environmental
policy and performance will be set out in the environmental, social and
governance report of the Group for the year will be despatched to shareholders

of the Company and will be made available on the websites in due course.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at

the end of reporting year were as follows:

MHA=+H WH=+H
30 April 2023 30 April 2022

Tt T

HK$’000 HK$’000

A7 343 A Share premium 560,230 560,230
B e Contributed surplus 191,087 191,087
BE R Accumulated losses (804,714) (789,537)
T I HEE £t 1 Share option reserve = -
(53,397) (38,220)
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EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited

Subject to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Companies Act”) and the
Bye-laws, the Company may in general meeting make a distribution to its
shareholders out of any contributed surplus (as ascertained in accordance with
the Companies Act) but no dividend shall be paid or distribution shall be made
out of contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due or the realisable value of its assets would

thereby become less than its liabilities.
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DIRECTORS

The Board comprises the following Directors during the Year and up to the

date of this directors’ report:
Executive Directors

Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond
Mr. Yang Haijia
(appointed effective from 2 May 2023)
Ms. Wang Lili
(appointed effective from 31 May 2023)
Dr. So Yu Shing (Chairman)
(resigned effective from 2 May 2023)
Mr. Kong Kam Wang (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned effective from 16 November 2022)
Ms. Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca
(resigned effective from 19 December 2022)
Mr. Tse Fung Chun
(resigned effective from 31 May 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Law Man Sang
Ms. Lam Wai Yu
Mr. Lo Ka Ki

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director
an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the independent

non-executive Directors as independent.

In accordance with Bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. As such, each of Mr.
Law Man Sang and Ms. Lam Wai Yu shall retire at the annual general meeting
and each of them, being eligible, will offer himself/herself for re-election at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Yang Haijia and Ms. Wang Lili were appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 2 May 2023 and 31 May 2023 respectively.

Pursuant to Bye-law 83 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Yang Haijia and Ms. Wang Lili
will hold office only until the annual general meeting, and being eligible,
will offer himself/herself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

ZZ-=FF5 Annual Report 2023

59



60

R
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

HEHERE G X

AN B P A AT 9 B BEAR 24 AT 7 B
B W) S W AR I RS B B R T
A B EATAT — U5 5 g R D = A
N T > 5D = A A A AR
(- B

BRI FRATER L BEFEY A IE L
A5 788 0 75 T DA 1k B AR o o BT A
JH % w0 ST T 2 o i R 4R O R SCT IR

HEE TP M Jih FBC SR 4R K o b M SR AT 2 A
988 B AR 7 ) B AT A S 8 R SL A AR IR
AL — AR N TE R A A (T2 R RRR AL F
DUR T LA L 2 R 5 4

3 R AT BOR R By ~ A B
Jie oy B A8 I 2 HE 43

TR ZAENA = H e AR FE S AT

AR AR F) O AT T A 1 78 LR %
B A B R A0 55 XV ) 22 IR0~ A BRI 003 B A
Jr AT ZEUR B R I IO B R 9 2R 35200 R
B8 A SR 9% GEM L T KR I 555 4615
Jir it 2 HE A AT 32 Sy ) RE R HE T ZRU R A
AT T WAL B 2 RESR AR

A2 ) B B A B ey 2 %

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years. All the such service contracts are
continuous until terminated by either party giving to the other not less than
three months’ notice in writing, or by payment of three months’ salary in lieu
of such notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed for a term of
one year unless terminated by one month’s notice in writing. All Directors
are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of directors under the
Bye-laws.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 April 2023, the interests of the Directors and the chief executive of
the Company in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by the Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of

the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company

/R g S
WH=4+H
AR o v BB AT
JB AR 2 WE 4 4 b
sl Approximate
Jt 3% 28 i 8 H J 4y 8 H percentage of the
Number of Number of issued share capital
HREA 5 4 ordinary underlying of the Company
Name of Director Capacity shares held shares held as at 30 April 2023
R T B 1 i dEa A 3,320,000
Dr. So Yu Shing Beneficial owner
(A -ZF =R 2 HREHT) i {8 HE 4 3,320,000
(resigned effective from 2 May 2023) Interest of spouse
6,640,000 0.05%
[ ¥t Ha i fa A 800,000 0.01%

Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond

EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited

Beneficial owner
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations as at 30 April
2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or the substantial shareholders (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) of the Company or their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in the business that competed or
might compete or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the

business of the Group during the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for details of the share option scheme as disclosed below and in note 37
to the consolidated financial statements, during the Year, none of the Directors
(including their spouses and children under the age of 18) had any interest in
or was granted any right to subscribe for the shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or its associated corporations, or had exercised any such right.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHERS’ INTERESTS IN THE SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 30 April 2023, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
were not aware of any person (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company whose interests were disclosed above) who had an interest in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 40 in notes to the consolidated financial statements
and in paragraph headed “Related parties disclosures” in this report, (i) there
is no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during
or at the end of the Year in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (ii) no
other contract of significance was entered into by, and/or subsisted between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries during the Year; and (iii) no other contract of significance in
relation to provision of services to the company or any of its subsidiaries by

the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the Year.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Directors confirm that the material related party transactions as disclosed
in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case
may be) in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that
the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 82% of the Group’s
total turnover and the turnover attributable to the Group’s largest customer
accounted for approximately 39% of the Group’s total turnover.

The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 41% of the Group’s total purchases
and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 12% of the Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the Year did a Director, a close associate of a Director or a
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) have an interest in any
of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 30 August 2011 (the
“2011 Option Scheme”) has expired on 30 August 2021. No further options
shall be granted thereunder, but the provisions of the 2011 Option Scheme
will remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the
exercise of those share options granted prior to the expiry date.

Under the terms of the share option scheme adopted by the Company on
22 October 2021 (the “2021 Option Scheme”), the Board may, at its absolute
discretion, offer full time or part time employees of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (including any directors, whether executive or non-executive and
whether independent or not, of the Company or any of its subsidiaries) and
any agents, consultants and advisers who have contributed or may contribute
to the Group, to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company, as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth of the Group. The
maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2021 Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must not, exceed
30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time. The life of
the 2021 Option Scheme was effective until 21 October 2031.
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The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued on the exercise of
options granted under the 2021 Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes of the Company and its subsidiaries (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to a grantee in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
(or 0.1% in case of a connected person (as defined under the GEM Listing
Rules) grantee) of the total issued share capital of the Company in issue,
unless separately approved by the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting with such grantee and his associates abstaining from voting, and
the number and terms (including the subscription price) of the options to be
granted to such person must be fixed before the shareholders’ approval. A
nonrefundable nominal consideration of HK$10 is payable on acceptance of

each grant.

The subscription price may be determined by the Board, provided that it shall
not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the Company’s shares
on GEM as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date
of grant of the options; (b) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s
shares on GEM as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the options;
and (c) the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant provided that in
the event of fractional prices, the subscription price per share shall be rounded

upwards to the nearest whole cent.

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with the terms
of the 2021 Option Scheme at any time during a period to be notified by the
Board to each grantee which shall not be more than 10 years from the date
on which the offer of the grant of the options is made in accordance with the
terms of the 2021 Option Scheme. There is no general requirement on the
minimum period for which an option must be held or performance target must
be achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the 2021

Option Scheme.

For the Year, there were no share options granted, exercised, cancelled, lapsed

or outstanding.

Further details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in note

37 to the consolidated financial statements.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares of the

Company on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is determined by the

Remuneration Committee on the basis of merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors
and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out above and in note 37

to the consolidated financial statements.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules, the remuneration of the senior

management of the Company for the Year by band is as follows:

- Sy =y

2023 2022

% £1,000,000% JC Nil to HK$1,000,000 1 1
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1 2
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Further particulars in relation to Directors’ remuneration and the five
individuals with highest emoluments are set out in note 11 to the consolidated

financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with any

relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float

throughout the Year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 9 of the Companies (Directors’ Report)
Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was and is being in
force for the benefit of the Directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During the Year, the cooperation agreement dated 1 January 2017 entered
into between Mass Fidelity Asset Management Limited (“Mass Fidelity”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company principally engaged in assets
management, and GET Consulting Company Limited (“GET Consulting”) was
in force. Pursuant to such cooperation agreement, Mass Fidelity has engaged
GET Consulting to provide management services on the daily operation and
accounting and finance matters of Mass Fidelity. Such cooperation agreement
did not have a fixed term and no Director was interested in such cooperation
agreement.

Save as aforesaid, no other contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the year ended 30 April
2023.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The Group did not issue any shares or debentures during the Year. Further
details of other loan and other borrowings obtained in the prior years are set
out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for details of the share option scheme as disclosed above and in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement (as
defined in section 6 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter
622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was entered into by the Company during

the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the Year amounted
to HK$30,000 (Last Year: HK$65,000).

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

There has been no change in auditors of the Company in the three years
preceding the date of this annual report. A resolution will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint D &
PARTNERS CPA LIMITED as the independent auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

So Wang Chun. Edmond

Executive Director

28 July 2023
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To the Shareholders of WLS Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of WLS Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
74 to 191, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 April 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2023, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.
KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables

We identified the estimated impairment of loan and interest receivables arising
from the money lending business as a key audit matter due to significance of
the carrying amount and significant estimation required by the management on

assessing the impairment of loan and interest receivables.

As detailed in notes 4, 21 and 42 to the consolidated financial statements,
management assessed the provision for impairment of loan and interest
receivables based on the estimation of expected credit loss (“ECL”) under
a “three-stage” model. In developing the loss allowance of loan and interest
receivables, management use judgement in making the assumptions about the
probability of default and loss given default with reference to the historical
delinquency ratio of loans portfolio, repayment record, collateral values and
current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors.

As at 30 April 2023, the Group’s net loan and interest receivables amounted
to approximately HK$444,388,000 (2022: HK$486,266,000). Allowance for
credit losses of loan and interest receivables under the ECL model amounted
to approximately HK$240,051,000 (2022: HK$155,496,000) and net
impairment loss arising from ECL for the amount of HK$84,555,000 (2022:
HK$41,793,000).

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of loan and interest
receivables arising from the money lending business included:

. Understanding, evaluating and validating the control over impairment
assessment of loan and interest receivables, which related to
management’s identification of events that triggered the significant
increase in credit risk of loan and interest receivables and events of
default;

. Carrying out procedures, on a sample basis, to test the existence and
accuracy of the aging of loan and interest receivables as at the reporting
date;

. Reviewing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology, approach

and basis of calculation prepared by management;

. Evaluating the appropriateness of the key assumptions, such as
delinquency ratio and collateral values used in assessing the ECL based
on the historical data as well as market economic data; and
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. Testing the integrity of information used by management to develop the
impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables as at year-end

by checking the historical settlement records on a sample basis.

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from contracts with customers of scatfolding, fitting out

and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work

We identified the revenue recognition from contracts with customers of
scaffolding services, filling out and other auxiliary services for construction
and buildings work as a key audit matter due to the significant judgments
exercised by the management of the Company in determining the estimation

of contract revenue and contract costs using input method.

As stated in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
recognises contract revenue and costs by reference to the stage of completion
of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured based on
the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to
the estimated total contract costs. Accordingly, revenue recognition involves a
significant degree of judgment, with estimates being made to assess the total
contract costs and stage of completion of the contract to provide appropriately
for loss making contracts. Notwithstanding that the management reviews and
revises the estimates of contract costs for the comprehensive architectural
services as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of the contract in terms
of its total costs may be higher or lower than the estimates and this will affect

the revenue and profit recognised for the financial year.

As disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the
contract revenue of scaffolding services and fitting out works amounted to
approximately HK$103,413,000 and HK$140,283,000 for the year ended
30 April 2023 and 2022, respectively.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Our procedures in relation to the contract revenue and costs of scaffolding
services and fitting out works and contract assets and contract liabilities for

contract work included:

. Understanding of the management’s process relating to the estimation

of total contract revenue and contract costs;

. Checking and agreeing the total contract value to the contracts and

variation orders or other correspondences, on a sample basis;
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. Checking to the supporting documents including the statement of final
account or application forms or invoices issued by the contractors/
developers and their correspondences issued to evaluate progress of

projects during the year, on a sample basis;

. Performing comparisons between the percentage of completion and the
percentage of progress billing on selected contracts and investigate any

significant differences, on a sample basis;

. Checking the progress billings, on a sample basis, to invoices issued and

checking staff costs incurred, on a sample basis, to the timesheet record;

. Agreeing the total budget contract revenue to the contracts and variation
orders or other correspondences and discussing with the project
managers of the Group to evaluate the reasonableness of their estimated
total budget contract revenue based on the size and complexity of the

contracts, on a sample basis; and

. Performing interviews with the relevant project teams to understand the
contract terms, performance and status of selected projects to evaluate

the recoverability of amounts due from customers for contract work.
OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the

Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matters or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s

report is Lau, Ming Tak Simeon.

D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Ming Tak Simeon
Practising Certiticate Number: PO7579

Hong Kong, 28 July 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BE—FT =4 H=+HIFFZ Forthe year ended 30 April 2023

g et o Sy
2023 2022
R E T# T THs T
NOTES HK$°000 HK$’000
(RH )
(Restated)
FE g Continuing operations
W 25 Revenue 5 145,960 189,047
BB A Cost of sales (98,112) (117,927)
E A Gross profit 47,848 71,120
HAtb g A Other income 3,384 461
HoAth ke 25 & (548) Other gains and (losses) 8 (118,082) (59,237)
o R AT B Operating and administrative expenses (27,440) (48,374)
WEWEZ AT EHEH Fair value changes on investment
properties - 2,521
HEWZE- B K2 i Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 15 -
W W JE B 2 MURIG TR Loss on write-off of property,
plant and equipment - (407)
W2~ R 7 B A AN A A Impairment loss of property, plant and
HEZ WA R equipment and right-of-use assets (4,500) -
t B A W) 2 i AR Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 28 115 34,446
Tl & R AR Finance costs 9 (7,147) (8,049)
KBl B S 18 Loss before taxation (105,807) (7,519)
Bl IH Taxation 10 487 (4,258)
AR AR RS 1 S 1R Loss for the year from continuing
operations 12 (105,320) (11,777)
kR Discontinued operation
AR AR A #OE R BT Profit (loss) for the year from
Y A (s HH) discontinued operation 13 29 (191)
A A FE i 1R Loss for the year (105,291) (11,968)
/IR S SN (Loss) profit for the year attributable to
AAETE (48 i A owners of the Company:
—R B R — from continuing operations (112,413) (10,627)
— R EH KL EE — from discontinued operation 29 (191)
(112,384) (10,818)
I T IO HRE £ I A AR A Profit (loss) for the year attributable to
i A (fEE) - non-controlling interests:
— KA RS — from continuing operations 7,093 (1,150)
(105,291) (11,968)
B AR R AR R From continuing and discontinued
operations
g B e 48 — B A K i Loss per share — basic and diluted (HK$(0.782) (HK$0.075
15 cent ¥ i) cent Al
K RS From continuing operations
A M 18 — A R i Loss per share — basic and diluted (HK$(0.782) (HK$0.074
cent # il cent i ll)
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o By 18 B L il 2 W
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AE T -=—FWA=+HIFFE

For the year ended 30 April 2023

TR —E T
2023 2022
T#5t T
HK$°000 HK$’000
AR A JE i 1R Loss for the year (105,291) (11,968)
HoAth A TR 3 - Other comprehensive expense:
AEA B B F AR 19 H - Item that will not be reclassitied to profit or loss:
e N P N A 2 T i 25 Fair value loss on equity instruments
(T FEFEAFHABL 2 TSR 1) at fair value through other comprehensive
ZHE THZ AP EEH income (“FVTOCI”) (1,147) (897)
AR AR A A T S A Other comprehensive expense
bR BLIH for the year, net of taxation (1,147) (897)
A B AT S KRR Total comprehensive expense for the year (106,438) (12,865)
A B A N E AL A8 4F B Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year
AT (3T ) W fi AR attributable to owners of the Company:
—%R H R — from continuing operations (113,560) (11,524)
—2 { &L R — from discontinued operation 29 (191)
(113,531) (11,715)
IF P A 25 FE A 2 T UK 22 (SZ ) Total comprehensive income (expense) attributable
A to non-controlling interests:
— R H R — from continuing operations 7,093 (1,150)
(106,438) (12,865)
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o A IR DL R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZFZ=4FMA=+H At30April 2023

2023 2022
R 51 T#5t TH#IT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$°000
I B & Non-current assets
L ENY & ] Property, plant and equipment 16 4,880 11,803
i R Right-of-use assets 17 - 3,598
Y G Intangible asset 18 - -
BB A ZRE Interests in a joint venture 19 - -
A w1 H A A T i %R Equity instruments at FVTOCI
ZHEH TR 20 2,225 3,372
JAEE e 4 R % A Loan and interest receivables 21 26,327 239,831
TAAT B ~ 4% 45 K Prepayments, deposits and
b W 3 T other receivables 22 1,111 961
I AL Bl I Deferred tax assets 34 6,527 6,625
41,070 266,190
it B Current assets
JREE i R R S Loan and interest receivables 21 418,061 246,435
TA AT R ~ % K Prepayments, deposits and
At B Wi I other receivables 22 8,541 13,225
JE i T 3K Trade receivables 23 33,571 40,706
B HERE Contract assets 24 10,100 13,089
1i 155 Inventories 25 477 866
AN R AIHZS ([4%A°F{H  Financial assets at fair value through
FEAIELE ) 2 A RE E profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 26 45,271 71,953
JRE A (1] B TH Tax recoverable - 13
ELHC A ER AT A7 3K Pledged bank deposit 27 - 14,707
SRATH R M B & —fFRERF Bank balances and cash — trust account 27 - 2
SRATHE B LBl & —— IR Bank balances and cash — general accounts 27 18,514 36,188
534,535 437,184
it B £ 1K Current liabilities
JRE A B 3 B JHL At JRE AT 35 I Trade and other payables 29 34,975 33,130
HHARK Contract liabilities 30 13,373 17,288
LR B Lease liabilities 31 1,027 2,602
JREAS R [ 43 3KTE Retention monies payables 3,999 5,167
JE A it T Tax payable 816 721
o5 M A A Provision for onerous contracts 140 -
AT E Bank borrowings 32 - 8,634
At 8 R Al i Other loan and other borrowings 33 120,563 116,433
SRATIESL Bank overdrafts 32 - 10,933
174,893 194,908
it B A Net current assets 359,642 242,276
B g R B £ A Total assets less current liabilities 400,712 508,466
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

RZFZ=FWAH=+H At30Aorl 2023

- S -
2023 2022
Bt T T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’ 000
I i B £ 1% Non-current liabilities
A A6 Lease liabilities 31 595 1,622
HCAth £ 8 H A £ Other loan and other borrowings 33 3,316 3,020
R SE B IE AR Deferred tax liabilities 34 694 1,279
4,605 5,921
A Net assets 396,107 502,545
A K il Capital and reserves
il &N Share capital 35 143,670 143,670
A Reserves 252,437 365,968
AR AR O RE AL E £ Equity attributable to the owners
of the Company 396,107 509,638
I FE 1 HE #i Non-controlling interests - (7,093)
HE £5 48 %0 Total equity 396,107 502,545

EVESCIN=a =S P E fE Y e St o ot
A+ N HREEGH LR 5 h
RV IPNERIW-T &

So Wang Chun. Edmond
HF

Director

The consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 191 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 July 2023 and are signed
on its behalf by:

REES
Yang Haijia
#HF

Director
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Bk

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE=—ZT = =F/mH=1HIFF/Z Forthe year ended 30 April 2023

RATREH AEL
Attributable to the owners of the Company
EATE
A AHA
Bk RpEE SRR ANEG  WRERE cEaEfE 2R B FRRMER ERAE
Share Non-
Share Share ~ Contributed Merger option FVTOCI  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
T T TH#T TH#T T T TH#T T Ti#x T
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$°000  HKS$'000
(HHska) (kD) (Hfzkc)
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
WEZEZ—HHA—H At 1 May 2021 143,670 560,230 191,087 2222 1,379 (37,706) (339,529) 521,353 (12,465) 508,888
AEEER Loss for the year - - - - - - (10818)  (10.818) (1L150)  (11,968)
BATER AL EREZ Fair value loss on equity
R LAZATHER instruments at FVTOCI - - - - - (897) - (897) - (897)
HEATEF A AT S Z  Disposal of equity instruments
HHELR at FVTOCI - - - - - 763 (763) - - -
AR A Total comprehensive expense
for the year - - - - - (132) (11,583) (11,715) (1,150)  (12,865)
|G R Lapse of share options - - - - (1,379) - 1379 - - -
it 65 0 2+ R Eliminated on disposal
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - 6,522 6,522
REZZZZENAZTR At 30 April 2022 143,670 560,230 191,087 20 - (37,838) (349.733) 509,638 (7,093) 502,545
AR AR
Attributable to the owners of the Company
AT
A ASHE
Bk RGEE  EARK  SO0RE  WBEMRE ZWREREE  HAdER BE RRBES ESAE
Share Non-
Share Share Contributed Merger option FVTOCI  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
T T T T T T Tit T T#x T
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000
(Htska)  (H5ED) (HfzEe)
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
BWZRZZZHHA—H At 1 May 2022 143,670 560,230 191,087 2222 - (37,838) (349,733) 509,638 (7,093) 502,545
AAERE (BH) A (Loss) profit for the year - - - - - - (112,384)  (112,384) 7093 (105,291)
BAFEFAR bR Fair value loss on equity
4 TRZ AT HEER instruments at FVTOCI - - - - - (1,147 - (1,147 - (1,147)
AEREARE () heds A Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - - - (1,147) (112,384)  (113,331) 7,093 (106,438)
REZZZENAZTH At 30 April 2023 143,670 560,230 191,087 2222 - (38,985) (462,117) 396,107 - 396,107

EEERAR AR WLS Holdings Limited




i B A S B R (4)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)

it :

(@)  ANSEE Z EAR BRI AR IR % — 4
N AN BT 2 BRI OR L A
Tl P e S8 R B A 2 B0l 1 AR A A
VR R A% WA 1 PR i P S R R o

(b) AEEMZEHMEREALFCET ZRA
T R BUR AR B =2 % — 4+ —H
= HET B I AN E A R
PEAT A I (E 2 2

() AR P U FBOHE ol ARG 95 7 A B AL A B4R
HH A AR 1 R AT Y M S 2 (R

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

BE—FT - =4 H=+HIFFZ Forthe year ended 30 April 2023

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the amount transferred
from share premium amount upon the cancellation of the entire amount
standing to the credit of the share premium account as at 28 August
2014 pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders at an
extraordinary general meeting held on that date.

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between the
nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company in exchange
for the nominal value for the issued share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation on 23 November 2001.

The share option reserve of the Group represents the fair value of share
options granted at the relevant grant dates and outstanding as at end of
the reporting period.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE—FT =4 H=+HIFFZ Forthe year ended 30 April 2023

e Y S
2023 2022
T#x Tk
HK$°000 HK$’000
REEH Operating activities
W B i s 4R Loss before taxation (105,778) (7,710)
BT 5145 AR A Adjustments for:
FLE A Interest income (70) (73)
il AR Finance costs 7,148 8,093
il Depreciation 4,310 5,620
TEWEZ AT E Fair value gain on investment properties - (2,521)
AT EFIARGEZ EMERE2Z Fair value loss on financial assets
NI R at FVTPL 17,405 4,230
ERATFEF ARG Z Loss (gain) on disposal of financial assets
SRVEE 2 EHE () at FVTPL 5,704 (72)
I3 W7 Bt 2 R 1R Loss on write-off of property, plant and equipment - 407
HEWE  RE R 2 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 15) -
W 8BRSl A Waive of loan interest income 30 -
JRE Wi B 3k e A L 2 R Write-off of loan and interest receivables 3,000 11,118
JRE Wi i R Write-off of trade receivables 1,581 2,227
H A JRE i T 2 AR Write-off of other receivables 2,107 3,203
W3 R Jak s R i AR E Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment
i (M 42 and right-of-use assets 4,500 -
B Wi B B ) B 2 WA s 1 1 A Net impairment loss of loan and interest receivables 84,555 41,793
JOE A B Bk 2 BB A I 4R 1 AR Net impairment loss of trade receivables 1,399 34
BHEE 2 BUEERFHE Net impairment loss (reversal of impairment) of
(I fE B ) contract assets 150 (204)
HL A JRE A T 2 B A 4R A Net impairment loss of other receivables 73 -
oA 5 Write down of inventories 466 398
BBk E () Loss (gain) on debt modification 1,472 (3,490)
H B A A ) A Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 115) (34,446)
e 48 P 4 458 £ Provision for onerous contract 140 -
REBEESEHMHIRE Operating cash flows before movements
BE&wE in working capital 28,062 28,607
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

BE—FT - =4 H=+HIFFZ Forthe year ended 30 April 2023

e Y S
2023 2022
T#x Tk
HK$°000 HK$’000
JHE i £ I B 88 o Increase in loan and interest receivables (45,707) (67,002)
TAAS I~ $04 R HABENCGGRIE > Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 4,509 3,866
JRE AT R R BBl A (88T Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 4,155 (17,309)
BRVGEEWD (B Decrease (increase) in contract assets 2.839 (2,915)
17 &1 m Increase in inventories (77) (38)
NP EFT ARG 2 G E Decrease (increase) in financial assets at FVTPL
Wb (K ) 3,573 (11,468)
B AT I 2 e FC Al JEE AT K TELHS I Increase in trade and other payables 2,758 18,971
AR EE () K (Decrease) increase in contract liabilities (3,915) 10,521
JOE A [ IR (D) /8 (Decrease) increase in retention monies payables (1,168) 1,756
AT &5 8% R & — {5 5tIRF Increase in bank balances and cash — trust account W) -
IR Bl & T Net cash used in operating activities (4,978) (35,011)
REXEW Investing activities
D 2 R B A Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,203) (9,916)
FRE LA SRAT AR R Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 14,707 -
75 AR SRAT 775K Placement of pledged bank deposits - (14,707)
BER X /N S W N (g g o Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments
R i T AT 0R at FVTOCI - 6,273
i S e AT (R A H At 2 T i 65 2 Purchase of equity instruments at FVTOCT
i TH - (690)
WY B R T A Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 316 -
1 R 2 ) o A I i A Net proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries - 62,021
2 LS Interest received 70 73
REEB A EFH Net cash generated from investing activities 13,890 43,054
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fo By B U B A ()
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

HE—ZT—=F/mHA=1HIFF/Z Forthe year ended 30 April 2023

2023 2022
T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
Iy oE 73 Financing activities
WERITEE New bank borrowings raised - 77,961
MR EEAT A Z HoA B & Proceeds from other loan and other borrowings,

HoAth £ 8 2 i 159 20H net of issue cost 400 38,800
BEMEARE Repayment of lease liabilities (2,748) (5,985)
i A A B L A £ Repayment of other loan and other borrowings (4,293) -
CATFLE Interest paid (155) (6,179)
18 7 R AT Repayment of bank borrowings (8,634) (109,653)
B B ) 2 B o TR AR Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries (223) -
B S i B 4 Net cash used in financing activities (15,653) (5,056)
HEeERBE%SHEIHE (WA ) BmF4  Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (6,741) 2,987
REMZH & RIE&FHEH Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of

the year 25,255 22,268
RERZHERIEFHEH Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 18,514 25,255
WERBESMEEE M Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
R From continuing operations:
WATHBR R B4 ——RIRF Bank balances and cash — general accounts 18,514 36,188
WATIEX Bank overdrafts - (10,933)
18,514 25255
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. — &R

AR5 T B B M R ST 4 — P R el
T RS AR A R R H R g 22 i
GEM |- T o A 24 7] 5k i ¥ 2% J& {7 % Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda ° A< 2\ &) & it 48 3F 5 32 M &
BN B B A A AT B 115
T4 B S5 25 A E10H£1001-1006 % ©

ASE P RS Y R A Rl TR AR
BB B A ~ RG e A B L b o B 5~ i BB
Jo 7 M EH o

ZAEEO MBI ERTI LS T ([T ]) 2
BN A N TR RE B W o

2. JE Wi AT A I o
SO CT 7 98 B 5 i o e S0 1)
B FAE T AR

TP A A JBE i ) 2 28 A v B o
URCH N

A AL O HRKEMN LT b FiEE
FEAI 2 & (1 & et s & ) B 2 &
W R B BT A > L A SR A B S R
M5 ZFEETARAREN % ZFHA
— F B A < 4 3 ) 9 o AR

T A RS WA BRI AE e
H3 (EHTA)
F s e 1698 W3- RE KGR
(fEFTA) — 5t 8 & AT
JiT A 3R
F TR BREGY
(EFTA) — JB # I AR
F s B A e A B RO R
(EFTA) :?#Aiﬁ
TR RELZ
R R s

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
and continued in Bermuda with limited liability and its shares are listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange. The registered office of the Company is located
at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.
The head office and the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong is located at Rooms 1001-1006, 10th Floor, Tower A, Southmark, No. 11
Yip Hing Street, Wong Chuk Hang, Aberdeen, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of scaffolding, fitting
out and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work, money

lending business and assets management business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars

(“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on 1 May 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

ZZ-=FF5 Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT SRt Ab > T A 4 B RE T A s B S i At
e QUM BT A 3 AR 4R A AR A BE RO AR 4R 2
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SR A - SRR R o BT
PSSR A S A S A R L S 3 B [ A3
LUR R IR O U7 e AN VA 7 o [
(= VE B O BESHESE) (THESHE
ESDRNTESRCUE T EJUETE Y E L8 D)
MR (fh —F —FE+ A —F %
A S s S HE 2R ) AR S R — T
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”’) (CONTINUED)

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference
to the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business combinations for which
the acquisition date was on or after | May 2022. The amendments update
a reference in HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” so that it refers to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018
(the “Conceptual Framework™) instead of Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010), add a requirement that,
for transactions and events within the scope of the HKAS 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” or HK (IFRIC)-Int 21 “Levies”,
an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK (IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination
and add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent
assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 16 Property,
Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. The amendments specify that the costs of any item that were produced
while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management (such as samples produced when testing whether the relevant
property, plant and equipment is functioning properly) and the proceeds from
selling such items should be recognised and measured in the profit or loss in
accordance with applicable standards. The cost of the items are measured in
accordance with HKAS 2 “Inventories”.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group has applied the
new accounting policy retrospectively to property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after the beginning of 1 January 2021. The application
of the amendments in the current year has had no impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”’) (CONTINUED)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous
Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year.
The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses whether a contract is
onerous in accordance with HKAS 37, the unavoidable costs under a contract
should reflect the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the
lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising
from failure to fulfil it. Costs of fulfilling the contract include incremental
costs and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts
(e.g. an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and

equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no impact on

the Group’s financial positions and performance.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKFRSs Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 - 2020

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year.

The annual improvements make amendments to the following standards:
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes substantial
modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes only fees
paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or

received by either the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.
In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group applies the

amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged as at the

date of initial application, 1 January 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”’) (CONTINUED)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKFRSs Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to Illustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16 removes
from the example the illustration of reimbursement relating to leasehold

improvements by the lessor in order to remove any potential confusion.

HKAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the requirements in HKFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement by removing the requirement in paragraph 22 of HKAS 41
to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the fair value of a biological
asset using a present value technique.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”’) (CONTINUED)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKFRSs Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts'
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

HKEFRS 10 and HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)"

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates!

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising

from a Single Transaction'

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CO”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for investment properties and certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values, as explained in accounting policies set out

below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given

in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of
the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS

36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would

use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted at
fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals the

transaction price.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to

the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or

indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with

the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the

date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by
other members of the Group.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the
Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership interests entitling
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in a joint venture.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings, held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which includes both
leasehold land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification
of each element as a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is
clear that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire property
is accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the
leasehold land and building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element at initial

recognition.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold
land and building elements, the entire property is generally classified as if the
leasehold land is under finance lease.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the term of the lease

Plant and machinery 20%
Metal tubes and catwalks 20%
Gondolas’ related equipment 10%
Motor vehicles 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit

or loss.
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EEZERAERAT WLS Holdings Limited

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation, investment properties include land held for undetermined future
use, which is regarded as held for capital appreciation purpose. Investment
properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at fair values using the fair value model. All the Group’s property
interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purpose are classified and accounted for as investment properties and are
measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in
the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the

period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period

in which the property is derecognised.
Intangible asset acquired in a business combination

Intangible asset acquired in a business combination is recognised separately
from goodwill and is initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition

date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent

accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic
benefits is expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and a joint venture

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over these

polices.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. A joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities

require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and a joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and the joint
venture used for equity accounting purpose are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, all investments in associates
or the joint venture are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of associates or
the joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate or the joint venture (which includes any
long-term interest that, in substance, forms part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. An additional loss is recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that

associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate or
a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount
of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in

which the investment is acquired.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and a joint venture (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in
an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that

the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or a joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the
fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the
equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of that associate or joint
venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture
on the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity
to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is

discontinued.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint
venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to

profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with that associate or
joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements

only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
calculated using the first-in, first-out method.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs

necessary to make the sale.
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at

FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured
at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured
at FVTOCI:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that
at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in OCI if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

Financial asset is held for trading if:

. It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near
term; or
. On initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial

instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as hedging
instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

®

(i1)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the

determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred to accumulated

losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of
the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”

line item in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the

“other gains and (losses)” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit losses
(“ECL”) model on financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 including loan and interest receivables, trade receivables, contract
assets, other receivables and bank balances. The amount of ECL is updated at

each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month
(“12m”) ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting

date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m
ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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3. HEEHEEOR w0 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Ak T H (@) Financial instruments (Continued)

4 Rl R (8) Financial assets (Continued)

TRIZEF il B T5 R 47 1 R 5 9908 Z0 A0 77 Wl M AT A 2 2 Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

il 0 () HKFRS 9 (Continued)

() 5 BJE b B G (4 (i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
R b AN 2 & R e A A R E Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
WA A R IE A F ok 2 a5 presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
B R 18 V)26 T R DA SR B B > A recognition when contractual payments are past due based on the
S A S A IR 00 EORL R 8IS D0 contractual terms, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
FE an e B E Rl o information that demonstrates otherwise.
7R AR B I R A AR EkOI A R R B 2 The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
T B 35 3G 0 A AR HE 2 A v I A identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
EAET] - HEOR AT B R HE 2 40 % 5 IE i revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
T ek 1 15 B R 5 1 2 B identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes

past due.

(i) EHMEFE (ii)  Definition of default
AR R B R S AN AR R For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
B o H N HB B EE B A A ER AR IR AR 2 & default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
w2 BB NS T BE A A 0E s L A A external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
N CELHG A AL B W OR 51 R4 4 | 4 including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
A ZATATHEA ) > RIEE AR E A A - held by the Group).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries

are recognised in profit or loss.

—Z=—=%%% Annual Report2023 107



Ao B A 25 A W
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.

BHEFFHBUOR (w0

&b T H (@)

LG E (8)

BRIE T il J 25 7% 7 P S SO AR AT 3 (B P 1 2 2
1l Ol 1 ()

)

iR GIENSY 75 P9 2

MG REER G R A EAOME 2L
A (M AFTE 2 A I IR R TR ) T
T 2 b e T AR RO H R R
TG TR AR B T R S R Y R S
SR A o T B A 4R A A R S ik f
s B 5 ABE 3 o R ) SRR > L AR 5 T E
{19 A B S A JEL B S o

— B TR e 4R AR A A
ARG 2 BT A & % Bl & i B A 4R
P 2 Bl i 2 F 2 2 %
)28 Tl B R 5 2 TR A AR B

i TELIU 5 65 s 48 #c 42 0 O VR R g
S5 1) T 7K P 9 R 6 A7 AE AR DL
JU) < TR 2 9 A i

. Sl TR R (R AS 42 0 ik
MR K B 3 4 A5 1 WERT A oL
AL o RSB R R S Al R i
ARIE T SRAT &5 8% 0 B A5 Bl 1R
HEAT B R4S )

MR
o HE AR KR AT R
o SMIBME R (i) -

B T R L 500 LA AR
4019 ) AL 00 EL A £ 9L B 4
Mo
LA A 0 M T A 357

Wi I 52 < il A BEW(E - B ALE A
22 <l S W) SR B RO R

102 EmfzEARAR  WLS Holdings Limited

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective

interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at individual instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade receivables,
and contract assets are each assessed as a separate group). Loan
and interest receivables, other receivables and bank balances are

assessed for expected credit losses on an individual basis);

o Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to
the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset
and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for

the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has
elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not

reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received net of direct

issue costs.
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, retention monies
payables, bank borrowings, other loan and other borrowings and bank
overdrafts) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method.
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Modification of financial liabilities

Except for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows
as a result of interest rate benchmark reform in which the Group applies the
practical expedient, when the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant facts and
circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not
conclusive, the Group considers that the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any
fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly,
such modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or
fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment.
The exchange or modification is considered as non-substantial modification

when such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not result
in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities
will be calculated at the present value of the modified contractual cash
flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the
modified financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in

profit or loss at the date of modification.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business combinations
on or after the date of initial application, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract
will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are

subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of
a property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease building

components, unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease

component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of some clinics that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the

lease term.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any

lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and
removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms

and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation

and impairment losses, and adjusted for any measurement at lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term are
depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise,
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of

its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of

right-of-use assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the
lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease

incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially

measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees;
. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain

to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects

the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest

accretion and lease payments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment

to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised

discount rate at the date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured

by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated

statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the
practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate

lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to

use one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate
with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the

particular contract.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate

at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price

of the non-lease components.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the
Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to apply the practical expedient
not to assess whether the change is a lease modification if all of the following

conditions are met:

. the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the
lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for

the lease immediately preceding the change;

. any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on
or before 30 June 2022; and

. there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease
payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it would account for
the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or

loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment

properties measured under fair value model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the Group
applies HKFRS 15 to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and
non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated from lease

component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition

are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease moditications

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease
from the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid or accrued
lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease payments for

the new lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess whether sale and

leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a sale, the Group as a seller-
lessee measures the right-of-use asset arising from the leaseback at the
proportion of the previous carrying amount of the asset and recognises any

gain or loss that relates to the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor only.
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign
currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical costs in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
rationalisation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period

they arise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods
or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are

substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant

performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the Group performs; or
. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative

use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS
9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an

amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are

accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards

complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is
measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services transferred to the
customer to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under
the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control

of goods or services.
Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is
measured based on input method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will be entitled using either (a) the
expected value method or (b) the most likely amount, depending on which
method better predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group will be
entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the transaction
price only to the extent that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will
not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty

associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the estimated
transaction price (including updating its assessment of whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting periods and the changes in circumstances
during the reporting periods.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised in the

consolidated profit or loss in the period they incurred.
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the

grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the periods in which the Group recognizes as expenses the related costs for

which the grants are intended to compensate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Government grants (Continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in

profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Government grants relating to compensation of expenses are deducted from
the related expenses, other government grants are presented under “other

income”.
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to directors and employees

Equity-settled share based payments to directors and employees are measured

at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at
the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the

revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to

accumulated losses.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Share options granted to consultants

Equity-settled share based payment transactions with parties other than
directors and employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or services
received, except where the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which
case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted,
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders
the services. The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as an expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve),
when the Group obtains the goods or when the counterparties render services,

unless the goods and services qualify for recognition as assets.
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered services entitling
them to the contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated profit of loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary differences arise from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects

neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interest are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to

reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and it is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets

to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which
the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the

right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they
relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business

combination.
Impairment on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The
reasonable amount of tangible and intangible assets are estimated individually,
when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and

consistent allocation basis can be identified.

—Z—=%%4% Annual Report2023 119



B 7 S 05 e B

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. EEGHBR @

B BT & E Z WAR (50

RUCES PP e e
AL 24 o1 2 5« A A A8 0 - 1
SR A3 5 B 7 B 47 B B
ST L Il 18 0 2
AL R BT 75+ KA
f vt R A 8

fied (OB < 7 AL BEL) 2 m] [l B A D
LR E > R B (BB A A 2 MR
AT (L 5 ) B 2 T i ] R o 98 s 5 T B IR
T 18 4 R o ERT A B A J) DL E
il (B30 B - F 9k (Mg 4R T #% 5% Y R O A
AN -

Ak k(L s £8 A% F35 TR) o T L DR T (EL T 9
FEEAEFT 2 Ak wh AT W1 A - e AR IR
(B S 75 18 A T 4F AN i 0 72 e 2 ok (L ol 40 17 L
I AR R 7 R 2 B T (L o 9l 1 4B (] Y B
il B8 2 WA > (EL A T LA E A (E S R
JEL {1 e 498 [ T 0 A G RN

4. Mhut A etz B EARE

T ME AR B 2 O R ERE3®E ) 1 >
o JH B OR BB I L b e U E 2 E K A
B BT (ELAR o B TR BB o % T A
T AR BRI ST i % 38 A A i % G Ay 45 % A A
Z IR o MR R T RE B R S A AL

120 EEfzRARAR  WLS Holdings Limited

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Impairment on tangible and intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been

adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to the
extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

increase.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Estimation of recoverability of loan and interest receivables

The Group assesses provision for impairment of loan and interest receivables
based on an estimate of the recoverability of these receivables. Provisions
are applied to loan and interest receivables where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of impairment of loan and interest receivables under HKFRS 9
requires the use of estimates and judgement. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of
receivables and provision for impairment losses in the period in which such
estimate has been changed. The Group uses judgement in making assumptions
and selecting the inputs to its ECL calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used
are disclosed in note 42.

Estimation uncertainty on supply and installation contracts including
scaffolding services ad fitting out works

The Group estimated total contract revenue in accordance with the terms
set out in the relevant contracts, or in case of variation order or other
correspondences and the management’s experience. The Group estimated
total contract costs of scaffolding services and fitting out works, which
mainly comprise costs for scaffolding and interior materials, labour costs and
subcontracting fees, based on quotations from time to time provided by the
major subcontractors/suppliers/vendors and the experience of the management
of the Group, which involves the management’s best estimates and judgments,
the actual outcome of the contract in terms of its total revenue and costs may
be higher or lower than the estimates and this will affect the revenue and profit
recognised. If the price of scaffolding and interior decorative materials or the
wages of labour or the subcontracting fees varies significantly in the coming
months from the budgets, the contract profit for each of the individual projects
will differ significantly from the estimated contract profit. If estimated costs
exceed contract revenue, a contract loss will be recognised.
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5. REVENUE

For the year ended 30 April 2023

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

2023 2022
Tt THs 7T
HK$’000 HK$’000
(RH )
(restated)
FHERBEAMRAREF GHWE Revenue from contracts with
customers from continuing
operations:
LR S etk TR SR I 2 5 - M e Contract revenue in respect of
FHAb T B R 2 A Sl i scaffolding, fitting out and other
auxiliary services for construction
and buildings work 103,413 140,283
2R At 2 5 2 W A Revenue from other sources:
B ORI 2l A Loan interest income 42,547 48,764
FF A A8 TR AR AR Total revenue from continuing
operations 145,960 189,047
2023 2022
T T T
HK$’000 HK$ 000
(% H )
(restated)
i e A T 1 W R = I Timing of revenue recognition
from continuing operations:
W IR [H] Over time 103,413 140,283

BB EEEEMEBEENEAE
F A I £5176,000 00 (&
1,980,000 JG ) B8 R [#] TE =R

122 EE#zRARAR  WLS Holdings Limited

Revenue from contracts with customer from discontinued operation of
asset management business is HK$176,000 (2022: HK$1,980,000) are

recognised at overtime.
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